



AperTO - Archivio Istituzionale Open Access dell'Università di Torino

Correspondence theorems for Hopf algebroids with applications to affine groupoids

This is the author's manuscript		
Original Citation:		
Availability		
Availability.		
This version is available http://hdl.handle.net/2318/1924291since 2023-08-01T15:29:19Z		
Published version:		
DOI:10.4153/S0008414X23000238		
Terms of use:		
Open Access		
Anyone can freely access the full text of works made available as "Open Access". Works made available under a Creative Commons license can be used according to the terms and conditions of said license. Use of all other works requires consent of the right holder (author or publisher) if not exempted from copyright protection by the applicable law.		

(Article begins on next page)

CORRESPONDENCE THEOREMS FOR HOPF ALGEBROIDS WITH APPLICATIONS TO AFFINE GROUPOIDS.

LAIACHI EL KAOUTIT, ARYAN GHOBADI, PAOLO SARACCO, AND JOOST VERCRUYSSE

ABSTRACT. We provide a correspondence between one-sided coideal subrings and one-sided ideal two-sided coideals in an arbitrary bialgebroid. We prove that, under some expected additional conditions, this correspondence becomes bijective for Hopf algebroids. As an application, we investigate normal Hopf ideals in commutative Hopf algebroids (affine groupoid schemes) in connection with the study of normal affine subgroupoids.

CONTENTS

Introduction	2
Motivations and overviews	2
Description of the main results	2
1. Preliminaries, notation and first results	4
1.1. The enveloping algebra and bimodules	4
1.2. Pure extensions of rings	5
1.3. The Takeuchi-Sweedler crossed product	8
1.4. Left bialgebroids	8
1.5. Module corings and relative Hopf modules	10
2. The correspondence for arbitrary Hopf Algebroids	13
2.1. The correspondence between left ideals two-sided coideals and right coideal subrings	13
2.1.1. General facts about left ideals two-sided coideals and right coideal subrings	13
2.1.2. Correspondence between left ideals two-sided coideals and quotient module corings	14
2.1.3. From left ideal two-sided coideals to right coideal subrings	16
2.1.4. From right coideal subrings to left ideals two-sided coideals	17
2.1.5. The canonical inclusions	19
2.2. The Hopf algebroid case and the bijective correspondence	21
3. Affine groupoids and commutative Hopf algebroids	27
3.1. Preliminaries on groupoids and normal subgroupoids	27
3.1.1. Groupoids and subgroupoids	27
3.1.2. Groupoid actions and normal subgroupoids	28
3.1.3. The orbit space	29
3.2. Commutative Hopf algebroids	30
3.2.1. Commutative Hopf algebroids and Hopf ideals	30

Date: April 25, 2023.

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 16T05, 16T15, 18B40, 18D40.

Key words and phrases. Hopf algebroids; Normal ideals; Affine groupoids; Normal affine subgroupoids; Comodule algebras; Finite groupoids; Hopf algebroids of functions; Galois correspondence.

This version of the article has been accepted for publication after peer review, but is not the Version of Record and does not reflect post-acceptance improvements, or any corrections. The Version of Record is available at: doi.org/10.4153/S0008414X23000238.

2	LAIACHI EL KAOUTIT, ARYAN GHOBADI, PAOLO SARACCO, AND JOOST VERCRUYSSE
2 2 2 2	

3.2.2. Comodule algebras and normal Hopf ideals	
3.2.3. The space of invariants	37
3.3. The correspondence for commutative Hopf algebroids	39
References	45

22

INTRODUCTION

Motivations and overviews. One of the fundamental results in the theory of affine groups states that the category of affine abelian groups is an abelian category, where epimorphisms are faithfully flat morphisms and monomorphism are closed immersions [10, III, §3, n°7, 7.4 Corollaire, page 355]. A purely algebraic proof of this theorem was given by M. Takeuchi in [37, Corollary 4.16], which asserts, in algebraic terms, that the category of commutative and cocommutative Hopf algebras over a field k is an abelian category, hereby generalizing a well-known result from Grothendieck, who proved the same result under the additional condition of finite dimensionality. The main ingredient in Takeuchi's proof is a Galois-type one-to-one correspondence between all sub-Hopf algebras and all normal Hopf ideals of a given commutative Hopf algebra. This bijection associates any sub-Hopf algebra with the ideal generated by the kernel of its counit. It is noteworthy that injectivity follows from the fact that any Hopf algebra is faithfully flat over its arbitrary sub-Hopf algebras [37, Theorem 3.1]. The same correspondence can be found in [1, §4, page 201], although with a slightly different proof. This correspondence does not rely on commutativity or cocommutativity of the Hopf algebras, and allowed for example to an extension of Takeuchi's result showing that the category of cocommutative (but not necessarily commutative) Hopf algebras is semi-abelian [22]

The aim of this research is to extend the aforementioned correspondence to the "multi-object" setting, that is, from (affine) groups to (affine) groupoids. In Hopf algebraic terms, groupoids can be described as weak Hopf algebras or Hopf algebroids. We will therefore firstly provide a Galois correspondence between (certain classes of) Hopf ideals and sub Hopf algebroids of general Hopf algebroids (in fact, even bialgebroids) and specializing to the commutative case, we obtain results for affine groupoids. Similar to the classical case explained above, the motivation of this work is that it could lead ultimately to a better understanding of the exactness properties of the category of (abelian) affine k-groupoids. Furthermore, our results have applications on a wide variety of topics, since the interest in Hopf algebroids is widespread in different branches of mathematics: from algebraic topology, algebraic geometry and differential geometry (see [31, 9, 15]), to the study of linear differential equations (see [16, 17]), noncommutative differential calculus [18] and in the study of the fundamental groupoid of quivers [19], to mention only a few.

Description of the main results. Recall that a *left Hopf algebroid* over \Bbbk (in the sense of Schauenburg [34]) is a pair (A, \mathcal{H}) of \Bbbk -algebras together with a family of structure maps that make of \mathcal{H} an $A \otimes A^o$ -ring and an A-coring in a compatible way (see Definition 1.6) and whose Hopf-Galois map (described in equation (31) below) is bijective. The so-called *translation map* $\gamma : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \times_{A^o} \mathcal{H}$ is obtained from the inverse of the Hopf-Galois map and it is explicitly defined in equation (32) below. For a ring B over which a Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) coacts, we will denote

the subring of coinvariant elements by $B^{co\mathcal{H}}$, and for any subset \mathcal{K} of \mathcal{H} , the symbol \mathcal{K}^+ stands for the intersection of the kernel of the counit of \mathcal{H} with \mathcal{K} . Finally, recall that a functor $\mathcal{L}: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ admitting a right adjoint \mathcal{R} is said to be comonadic if the comparison functor $\mathcal{K}: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}^{\mathcal{LR}}$ to the Eilenberg-Moore category of coalgebras for the comonad \mathcal{LR} is an equivalence.

With these notations at hand, our first main result in the general context of noncommutative Hopf algebroids, is the following. The functor $\mathcal{H} \otimes_B -$ in the statement below denotes the extension of scalars functor $_B Mod \rightarrow _{\mathcal{H}} Mod$.

Theorem A (Theorem 2.15). Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left Hopf algebroid over \Bbbk such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is *A*-flat. We have a well-defined inclusion-preserving bijective correspondence



When specialized to the commutative setting, it induces our second main theorem.

Theorem B (Theorem 3.28). Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. Then we have a well-defined inclusion-preserving bijective correspondence



Given a commutative k-algebra A, we denote by \mathscr{G}_A the associated k-functor, that is, the functor from all commutative k-algebras to sets that sends any algebra C the set of all algebra maps from A to C. In this way, a commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) gives rise to the pair of k-functors $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ which form a presheaf of groupoids (i.e., an affine k-groupoid scheme). If, as a working terminology, we say that a subgroupoid $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ of a given groupoid $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ is pure whenever the extension $\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}_{\mathcal{H}}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is pure, then Theorem B can be rephrased as follows.

Proposition C. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. Then we have an inclusion-preserving bijective correspondence

$$\begin{cases} pure normal affine subgroupoids \\ \left(\mathscr{G}_{A}, \mathscr{G}_{\frac{H}{T}}\right) of\left(\mathscr{G}_{A}, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}\right) \end{cases} \longleftrightarrow \begin{cases} sub-Hopf algebroids\left(A, \mathcal{K}\right) of\left(A, \mathcal{H}\right) \\ such that \mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathcal{H} is pure \end{cases} \end{cases}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} (\mathscr{G}_{A}, \mathscr{G}_{\frac{H}{T}}) \longmapsto \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}} \\ \left(\mathscr{G}_{A}, \mathscr{G}_{\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}^{\kappa^{+}}}}\right) \longleftarrow \mathcal{K} \end{cases}$$

A concrete application of the above to the Hopf algebroid of functions on a finite groupoid (i.e., with a finite set of arrows) is detailed in Example 3.29, where we show that there is a bijective

correspondence between normal subgroupoids of a finite groupoid and pure sub-Hopf algebroids of the associated Hopf algebroid of functions.

As a consequence of our main theorem, we have the following remarkable result.

Proposition D (Corollaries 3.34 and 3.35). Let \Bbbk be an algebraically closed field and let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid over \Bbbk such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat.

(a) If $(\mathscr{G}_A(\Bbbk), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(\Bbbk))$ is a normal subgroupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A(\Bbbk), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk))$ such that \mathcal{H} is faithfully flat over $\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$, then

$$\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk)/\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(\Bbbk) \cong \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{co}(\mathcal{H}/I)}}(\Bbbk).$$

(b) If (A, \mathcal{K}) is a sub-Hopf algebroid of the commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) such that \mathcal{H} is faithfully flat over \mathcal{K} , then

$$\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk)/\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{HK}^+}(\Bbbk) \cong \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{K}}(\Bbbk).$$

This result generalizes corresponding known results for affine algebraic groups, compare for example with [10, III, §3, n°7, 7.2, Théorème, page 353 and 7.3 Corollaire, page 354].

1. PRELIMINARIES, NOTATION AND FIRST RESULTS

We work over a ground field k. All vector spaces, algebras and coalgebras will be over k. The unadorned tensor product \otimes stands for \otimes_k . By a ring we always mean a ring with identity element and modules over rings or algebras are always assumed to be unital. All over the paper, we assume a certain familiarity of the reader with the language of monoidal categories and of (co)monoids therein (see, for example, [26, VII]).

We begin by collecting some facts about bimodules, (co)rings and bialgebroids that will be needed in the sequel. The aim is that of keeping the exposition self-contained. Many results and definitions we will present herein hold in a more general context and under less restrictive hypotheses, but we preferred to limit ourselves to the essentials.

Given a (preferably, non-commutative) \Bbbk -algebra A, the category of A-bimodules forms a nonstrict monoidal category ($_A Mod_A, \otimes_A, A, \mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{l}, \mathfrak{r}$). Nevertheless, all over the paper we will behave as if the structural natural isomorphisms

$$\mathfrak{a}_{M,N,P} \colon (M \otimes_A N) \otimes_A P \to M \otimes_A (N \otimes_A P), \quad (m \otimes_A n) \otimes_A p \to m \otimes_A (n \otimes_A p),$$
$$\mathfrak{l}_M \colon A \otimes_A M \to M, \quad a \otimes_A m \mapsto a \cdot m, \quad \text{and}$$
$$\mathfrak{r}_M \colon M \otimes_A A \to M, \quad m \otimes_A a \mapsto m \cdot a,$$

were "the identities", that is, as if ${}_{A}Mod_{A}$ was a strict monoidal category. If A is a non-commutative algebra, then we denote by A° its opposite algebra. In this case, an element $a \in A$ may be denoted by a° when it is helpful to stress that it is viewed as an element in A° . We freely use the canonical isomorphism between the category of left A-module ${}_{A}Mod$ and that of right A° -modules $Mod_{A^{\circ}}$.

1.1. The enveloping algebra and bimodules. Let *A* be an algebra, we denote by $A^e := A \otimes A^o$ the enveloping algebra of *A* and we identify the category $_{A^e}$ Mod of left A^e -modules with the category $_{A^e}$ Mod_A of *A*-bimodules. Giving a morphism of algebras $A^e \to R$ is equivalent to providing two commuting algebra maps $s: A \to R$ and $t: A^o \to R$, called the source and the target, respectively. In particular, the identity of A^e gives rise to $s: A \to A^e$, $a \mapsto a \otimes 1^o$ and $t: A^o \to A^e$, $a^o \mapsto 1 \otimes a^o$.

Given two A^{e} -bimodules M and N, there are several A-bimodule structures underlying M and N. Namely,

$$(a \otimes b^{\circ}) \cdot m \cdot (c \otimes d^{\circ}) = s(a)t(b^{\circ})ms(c)t(d^{\circ})$$

for all $m \in M$, $a, b, c, d \in A$. This leads to several ways of considering the tensor product over A between these underlying A-bimodules. For the sake of clarity, we will adopt the following notations. Given an A° -bimodule M, the A-action by elements of the form $a \otimes 1^{\circ}$ will be denoted by ${}_{s}M$ or M_{s} and the A° -action of the element of the form $1 \otimes a^{\circ}$ by ${}_{t}M$ or M_{t} , depending on which side we are putting those elements. We still have other actions by the elements $t(a)^{\circ}$, or $s(a)^{\circ}$ to produce other A or A° actions. In this case we use the notation t° and s° located in the corresponding side on which we are declaring the action. Summing up, we denote

$${}_{s}M \coloneqq_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}M, \quad {}_{t}M \coloneqq_{1\otimes A^{\circ}}M, \quad M_{t} \coloneqq M_{1\otimes A^{\circ}}, \quad M_{s} \coloneqq M_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}},$$
$${}_{s}M_{s} \coloneqq_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}M_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}, \quad {}_{s}M_{t} \coloneqq_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}M_{1\otimes A^{\circ}}, \quad {}_{t}M_{s} \coloneqq_{1\otimes A^{\circ}}M_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}, \quad {}_{t}M_{t} \coloneqq_{1\otimes A^{\circ}}M_{1\otimes A^{\circ}}.$$

from which we can switch the given actions and obtain new two-sided actions involving A and A°:

$${}_{s}M_{t^{\circ}} := {}_{A \otimes A^{\circ}}M, \quad {}_{t}M_{s^{\circ}} := {}_{A \otimes A^{\circ}}M, \quad {}_{s^{\circ}}M_{t} := M_{A \otimes A^{\circ}}, \quad {}_{t^{\circ}}M_{s} := M_{A \otimes A^{\circ}},$$

and so on. For example, $M_{t^{\circ}} = {}_{t}M$. For the sake of simplicity, we may also often resort to the following variation of the previous conventions: for $a, b \in A, m \in M$

$$a \triangleright m \triangleleft b \coloneqq (a \otimes b^{\circ}) \cdot m$$
 and $a \triangleright m \triangleleft b \coloneqq m \cdot (b \otimes a^{\circ}).$ (1)

1.2. **Pure extensions of rings.** Purity conditions will play a crucial role in establishing our main theorems. Therefore, we devote this subsection to collect a few results in details in this regard, for the convenience of the reader.

Given a ring *R*, we recall from [4, chap. I, §2, Ex. 24, p. 66] that a morphism of left (resp. right) *R*-modules $f: M \to N$ is called *pure* (or *universally injective*) if and only if for every right (resp. left) *R*-module *P*, the morphism of abelian groups $P \otimes_R f$ (resp. $f \otimes_R P$) is injective. In particular, *f* itself is injective, by taking P = R.

The subsequent Proposition 1.1 (and its corollaries) should be well-known: it states that a ring extension $f: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is pure as a morphism of right \mathcal{A} -modules if and only if the extension-of-scalars functor $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} -$ is faithful. They will be of great help in what follows.

Proposition 1.1. Let *R* be a ring and let $f : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a morphism of *R*-rings. The following are equivalent.

- (1) $f: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a pure morphism of right \mathcal{A} -modules;
- (2) for every left \mathcal{A} -module M, the morphism $\varrho_M \colon M \to \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M$, $m \mapsto 1_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m$, is injective for all $m \in M$;
- (3) for every morphism of left \mathcal{A} -modules $g: M \to N, \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g = 0$ implies g = 0;
- (4) if $M \xrightarrow{g} N \xrightarrow{h} P$ are morphisms of left \mathcal{A} -modules such that

$$\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} h} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} P$$

is an exact sequence of \mathcal{B} -modules, then $M \xrightarrow{g} N \xrightarrow{h} P$ is an exact sequence of \mathcal{A} -modules.

- (5) if $g: M \to N$ is a morphism of left \mathcal{A} -modules such that $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g: \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \to \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ is injective, then g itself is injective.
- In addition, any of the foregoing entails that
- (6) for every left ideal m in \mathcal{A} , we have $m = f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}m)$;
- and hence, in particular, that
- (7) for every maximal left ideal m in \mathcal{A} , there exists a maximal left ideal n in \mathcal{B} such that $m = f^{-1}(n)$.

Proof. The equivalence between (1) and (2) is the definition of purity. The equivalence between (3) and (4) is the fact that an additive covariant functor between abelian categories is faithful if and only if it reflects exact sequences (see [30, §3.1, exercise 4]). The implication from (2) to (3) follows by commutativity of the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} M \xrightarrow{\varrho_{M}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \\ \downarrow^{g} \downarrow & \downarrow^{\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g} \\ N \xrightarrow{\varrho_{N}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N. \end{array}$$

To prove that (4) implies (5), consider the morphisms $0 \to M \xrightarrow{s} N$ and apply the functor $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} -$. The implication from (5) to (2) follows by considering the morphism

 $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \varrho_{M} \colon \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \to \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M, \qquad b \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m \mapsto b \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} 1_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m,$

and observing that it admits the retraction

$$\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \to \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M, \qquad b \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} b' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m \mapsto bb' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m,$$

whence it is injective. Finally, let us show that $(2) \Rightarrow (6) \Rightarrow (7)$. To prove that (2) implies (6) let m be a left ideal in \mathcal{A} . Since \mathcal{A}/m is a left \mathcal{A} -module, (2) entails that

$$\mathcal{A}/\mathfrak{m} \xrightarrow{f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A}/\mathfrak{m}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A}/\mathfrak{m} \cong \mathcal{B}/\mathcal{B}\mathfrak{m}$$

is injective and therefore $\mathfrak{m} = f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}\mathfrak{m})$. Now, to show that (6) implies (7) observe that, by taking $\mathfrak{m} = 0$ in (6), we know that f is injective and hence we may assume that $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}$. Suppose that \mathfrak{m} is a maximal ideal in \mathcal{A} and let $\mathfrak{n} \subset \mathcal{B}$ be a maximal ideal containing $\mathcal{B}\mathfrak{m}$. Then $\mathfrak{m} = f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}\mathfrak{m}) \subseteq f^{-1}(\mathfrak{n})$ and so, since $1 \notin \mathfrak{n}, \mathfrak{m} = f^{-1}(\mathfrak{n})$ by maximality of \mathfrak{m} . \Box

Proposition 1.1 is the analogue of [4, Chapter I, §3, n°5, Proposition 9] and [39, §13.1, Theorem] for pure morphisms.

Corollary 1.2 (of Proposition 1.1). Let *R* be a ring and let $f : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a morphism of *R*-rings. If *f* is pure as a morphism of right \mathcal{A} -modules, then (M, ϱ_M) is the equalizer of the pair

$$\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \xrightarrow[\varrho_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M]{} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M$$

in the category of left A-modules, for every left A-module M. In particular, we have the equalizer

$$\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{B} \xrightarrow{\lambda_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B}.$$

Proof. Consider the parallel arrows

$$\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M.$$

It is clear that the function

 $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \varrho_{\mathcal{M}} \colon \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \to \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M, \qquad b \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m \mapsto b \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} 1_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m,$

lands in the equalizer of $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \lambda_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M$ and $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \varrho_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M$ and it is injective, since it admits

 $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \to \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M, \qquad b \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} b' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m \mapsto bb' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m,$

as a retraction. On the other hand, any $\sum_i b_i \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} b'_i \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} m_i$ in the equalizer satisfies $\sum_i b_i \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} b'_i \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} m_i = \sum_i b_i b'_i \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} 1_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} m_i$ and hence it is in the image of $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \varrho_M$. Therefore, $(\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} M, \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \varrho_M)$ is the equalizer of $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \lambda_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} M$ and $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \varrho_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} M$, whence (M, ϱ_M) is the equalizer of $\lambda_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} M$ and $\varrho_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} M$ by purity (statement (4) in Proposition 1.1).

Corollary 1.3 (of Proposition 1.1). Let *R* be a ring and let $f : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a morphism of *R*-rings. If *f* is a pure morphism of right *R*-modules and \mathcal{B}_R is flat, then \mathcal{A}_R is flat.

Proof. Take a monomorphism of left *R*-modules $M \xrightarrow{g} N$. By flatness of \mathcal{B} on *R* we have that $\mathcal{B} \otimes_R M \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B} \otimes_R g} \mathcal{B} \otimes_R N$ is injective and so

$$\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A} \otimes_{R} M \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A} \otimes_{R} g} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A} \otimes_{R} N$$

is injective, too. By purity (statement (5) in Proposition 1.1), $\mathcal{A} \otimes_R M \xrightarrow{\mathcal{A} \otimes_R g} \mathcal{A} \otimes_R N$ is injective. \Box

Corollary 1.4 (of Proposition 1.1). Let *R* be any ring and let $\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{g} \mathcal{T} \xrightarrow{h} \mathcal{B}$ be morphisms of *R*-rings. Set $f \coloneqq h \circ g$. If $f \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a pure morphism of right \mathcal{A} -modules, then the morphism of right *R*-modules g is pure as well. In particular, f is pure as a morphism of right *R*-modules.

Proof. Let *P* be any left *R*-module. Consider the morphism

$$\mathcal{B} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B}.$$

Since it is split injective, with retraction induced by the multiplication of \mathcal{B} , the morphism

$$\mathcal{B} \otimes_{R} P \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A} \otimes_{R} P \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f \otimes_{R} P} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{R} P$$

is (split) injective as well and hence

$$\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} P \xrightarrow{\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} P} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} P$$

is injective. Since

$$\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} P = (\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} h \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} P) \circ (\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} P),$$

then $\mathcal{B} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} P$ is injective, too. Being $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{A}}$ pure, the morphism $g \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} P$ is injective by statement (5) in Proposition 1.1. The last statement follows by taking f itself as g and Id_{\mathcal{B}} as h. \Box

Lemma 1.5. Let *R* be any ring and let $\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{g} \mathcal{T} \xrightarrow{h} \mathcal{B}$ be morphisms of *R*-rings. If $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is faithfully flat, then the morphism of right *R*-modules *g* is pure. In particular, $f := h \circ g$ is pure.

Proof. Since a faithfully flat extension is pure, the statement follows from Corollary 1.4.

1.3. The Takeuchi-Sweedler crossed product. Let $_{A^e}M_{A^e}$ and $_{A^e}N_{A^e}$ be two A^e -bimodules. We first define the *A*-bimodule

$$M \otimes_A N := {}_t M \otimes_A {}_s N = \frac{M \otimes N}{\left\langle t(a^\circ)m \otimes n - m \otimes s(a)n \mid m \in M, n \in N, a \in A \right\rangle}.$$
 (2)

This will usually be the tensor product over A that we are going to consider more often, unless specified otherwise. Then, inside $M \otimes_A N$ we consider the subspace

$$M \times_A N := \left\{ \sum_i m_i \otimes_A n_i \in M \otimes_A N \, \middle| \, \sum_i m_i t(a^\circ) \otimes_A n_i = \sum_i m_i \otimes_A n_i s(a) \right\}.$$
(3)

It is easy to see that $M \times_A N$ is an A-subbimodule (left A^e -submodule) with respect to the actions

$$a \cdot \left(\sum_{i} m_{i} \otimes_{A} n_{i}\right) = \sum_{i} s(a)m_{i} \otimes_{A} n_{i} \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\sum_{i} m_{i} \otimes_{A} n_{i}\right) \cdot a = \sum_{i} m_{i} \otimes_{A} t(a^{\circ})n_{i} \quad (4)$$

for all $\sum_i m_i \otimes_A n_i \in M \times_A N$ and $a \in A$, but it is also an A-subbimodule (right A^e -submodule) with respect to the actions

$$a \bullet \left(\sum_{i} m_{i} \otimes_{A} n_{i}\right) = \sum_{i} m_{i} \otimes_{A} n_{i} t(a^{\circ}) \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\sum_{i} m_{i} \otimes_{A} n_{i}\right) \bullet a = \sum_{i} m_{i} s(a) \otimes_{A} n_{i}.$$
(5)

In particular, it is an A^e -bimodule itself. There exist categorical ways to describe this Takeuchi-Sweedler product in terms of ends and coends (see, e.g., [35, 38], where the integral notation dating back to [40] was used) or in terms of monoidal products (see, e.g., [3, 36]), but, for the convenience of the unaccustomed reader and for the sake of simplicity, we decided to opt for the more elementary description above. In particular, in $M \times_A N$ the following relations hold for all $\sum_i m_i \otimes_A n_i \in M \times_A N$ and all $a \in A$:

$$\sum_{i} t(a^{\circ})m_{i} \otimes_{A} n_{i} \stackrel{(2)}{=} \sum_{i} m_{i} \otimes_{A} s(a)n_{i} \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{i} m_{i}t(a^{\circ}) \otimes_{A} n_{i} \stackrel{(3)}{=} \sum_{i} m_{i} \otimes_{A} n_{i}s(a).$$

In this way if \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{V} are two A^{e} -rings, then $\mathcal{U} \times_{A} \mathcal{V}$ is also an A^{e} -ring, with multiplication

$$\left(\sum_{i} u_{i} \otimes_{A} v_{i}\right) \cdot \left(\sum_{j} u_{j}' \otimes_{A} v_{j}'\right) = \sum_{i,j} u_{i}u_{j}' \otimes_{A} v_{i}v_{j}'$$

for all $u_i, u'_j \in \mathcal{U}, v_i, v'_j \in \mathcal{V}$ and \Bbbk -algebra morphism $A \otimes A^o \to \mathcal{U} \times_A \mathcal{V}, a \otimes b^o \mapsto s_{\mathcal{U}}(a) \otimes_A t_{\mathcal{V}}(b^o)$. The A^e -actions (4) and (5) are induced by this A^e -ring structure.

1.4. Left bialgebroids. Next, we recall the definition of a left bialgebroid. It can be considered as a revised version of the notion of a \times_A -bialgebra as it appears in [33, Definition 4.3]. However, we prefer to mimic [25] as presented in [6, Definition 2.2].

Definition 1.6. A left bialgebroid is the datum of

- (B1) a pair (A, \mathcal{H}) of k-algebras;
- (B2) a k-algebra map $\eta: A^e \to \mathcal{H}$, inducing a source $s: A \to \mathcal{H}$ and a target $t: A^o \to \mathcal{H}$ and making of \mathcal{H} an A^e -bimodule;

(B3) an A-coring structure $(\mathcal{H}, \Delta, \varepsilon)$ on the A-bimodule ${}_{A^{\circ}}\mathcal{H} = {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}}$, that is to say,

 $\Delta: {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \to {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \otimes_{A} {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \varepsilon: {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \to A$

A-bilinear maps such that

 $(\Delta \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \circ \Delta = (\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \Delta) \circ \Delta \qquad \text{and} \qquad (\varepsilon \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \circ \Delta = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{H}} = (\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \varepsilon) \circ \Delta; \tag{6}$

subject to the following compatibility conditions

(B4) Δ takes values into ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \times_{A} {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}}$ and $\Delta : {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \rightarrow {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \times_{A} {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}}$ is a morphism of \Bbbk -algebras;

- (B5) $\varepsilon(xs(\varepsilon(y))) = \varepsilon(xy) = \varepsilon(xt(\varepsilon(y)^{\circ}))$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{H}$;
- (B6) $\varepsilon(1_{\mathcal{H}}) = 1_A$.

A k-linear map $\varepsilon: \mathcal{H} \to A$ which is left A^{e} -linear and satisfies (B5) and (B6) is called a *left character* on the A^{e} -ring \mathcal{H} (see [3, Lemma 2.5 and following]).

A morphism of bialgebroids $\phi: (A, \mathcal{H}) \to (B, \mathcal{K})$ is a pair of algebra maps $(\phi_0: A \to B, \phi_1: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K})$ such that

$$\begin{split} \phi_1 \circ s_{\mathcal{H}} &= s_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_0, \qquad \phi_1 \circ t_{\mathcal{H}} = t_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_0, \\ \varepsilon_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_1 &= \phi_0 \circ \varepsilon_{\mathcal{H}}, \qquad \Delta_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_1 = \chi \circ (\phi_1 \otimes_A \phi_1) \circ \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}, \end{split}$$

where $\chi: \mathcal{K} \otimes_A \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{K} \otimes_B \mathcal{K}$ is the obvious projection induced by ϕ_0 , that is $\chi(h \otimes_A k) = h \otimes_B k$. If A = B and $\phi_0 = \text{Id}_A$, then we say that $\phi_1: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}$ is a morphism of bialgebroids over A.

As a matter of terminology, a bialgebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) as in definition 1.6 is often referred to as *a left bialgebroid* \mathcal{H} over A. Since in the following we will mainly deal with bialgebroids over a fixed base A, we may often omit to specify it and simply refer to (A, \mathcal{H}) as *the left bialgebroid* \mathcal{H} .

Remark 1.7. Let us make explicit some of the relations involved in the definition of a left bialgebroid and some of their consequences. In terms of elements of A and \mathcal{H} , and by resorting to Heyneman-Sweedler Sigma Notation, relations (6) become

$$\sum x_{11} \otimes_A x_{12} \otimes_A x_2 = \sum x_1 \otimes_A x_{21} \otimes_A x_{22} \quad \text{and} \quad \sum s(\varepsilon(x_1)) x_2 = x = \sum t(\varepsilon(x_2)^\circ) x_1$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{H}$. The *A*-bilinearity of Δ forces

$$\Delta(s(a)) = a \cdot \Delta(1_{\mathcal{H}}) = s(a) \otimes_{A} 1_{\mathcal{H}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Delta(t(a^{\circ})) = \Delta(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \cdot a = 1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{A} t(a^{\circ}) \quad (7)$$

for all $a \in A$, and its multiplicativity forces, as a consequence,

$$\Delta(xs(a)) = \Delta(x)\Delta(s(a)) = \left(\sum x_1 \otimes_A x_2\right)(s(a) \otimes_A 1_{\mathcal{H}}) = \sum x_1s(a) \otimes_A x_2,$$

$$\Delta(xt(a^\circ)) = \Delta(x)\Delta(t(a^\circ)) = \left(\sum x_1 \otimes_A x_2\right)(1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A t(a^\circ)) = \sum x_1 \otimes_A x_2t(a^\circ),$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{H}$. In particular, $\Delta : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \times_A \mathcal{H}$ is a morphism of A^e -rings.

The following result is extremely well-known (it underlies the monoidality of the category of left \mathcal{H} -modules).

Proposition 1.8. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left bialgebroid and let M, N be two left \mathcal{H} -modules. If we consider M and N as A-bimodules (left A^{e} -modules) via the restriction of scalars along η , then $M \otimes_{A} N$ is a left $\mathcal{H} \times_{A} \mathcal{H}$ -module with

$$s\mathcal{H}_{t^{o}} \times_{A} s\mathcal{H}_{t^{o}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{End}_{\Bbbk} (_{\eta}M \otimes_{A} _{\eta}N)$$

$$\sum_{i} x_{i} \otimes_{A} y_{i} \longmapsto \sum_{i} x_{i} \cdot m \otimes_{A} y_{i} \cdot n].$$
(8)

Moreover, (8) is a morphism of A^{e} -bimodules if we consider $\mathcal{H} \times_{A} \mathcal{H}$ endowed with the actions (4) from the left and (5) from the right and we consider $\operatorname{End}_{\Bbbk}(M \otimes_{A} N)$ endowed with the left A^{e} -action coming from the regular A-bimodule structure on the codomain and the right A^{e} -action coming from the regular A-bimodule structure on the domain. Equivalently,

$$(\mathcal{H} \times_A \mathcal{H}) \otimes_{A^{e}} (M \otimes_A N) \to M \otimes_A N, \qquad \left(\sum_i x_i \otimes_A y_i\right) \otimes_{A^{e}} (m \otimes_A n) \mapsto \sum_i x_i \cdot m \otimes_A y_i \cdot n$$

is a left A^e-linear action.

Corollary 1.9. If M, N are left \mathcal{H} -modules, then $M \otimes_A N$ is a left \mathcal{H} -module via restrictions of scalars along Δ :

$$\mathcal{H} \to \operatorname{End}_{\Bbbk}(M \otimes_{A} N), \qquad h \mapsto \left[m \otimes_{A} n \mapsto \sum h_{1} \cdot m \otimes_{A} h_{2} \cdot n \right]$$
(9)

and the latter is of A^e-bimodules. Equivalently,

$$\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^{c}} (M \otimes_{A} N) \to M \otimes_{A} N, \qquad h \otimes_{A^{c}} (m \otimes_{A} n) \mapsto \sum h_{1} \cdot m \otimes_{A} h_{2} \cdot n$$

is a left A^e-linear action. In particular, the category of left \mathcal{H} -modules is monoidal with tensor product \otimes_A and unit object A. The left \mathcal{H} -action on A is given by

$$h \cdot a \coloneqq \varepsilon(ht(a^{\circ})) = \varepsilon(hs(a)) \tag{10}$$

for all $a \in A$, $h \in \mathcal{H}$.

Definition 1.10. Given a left bialgebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) , a *left* \mathcal{H} -module coring is a comonoid in the monoidal category ($_{\mathcal{H}}\mathsf{Mod}, \otimes_A, A$) of left \mathcal{H} -modules.

1.5. Module corings and relative Hopf modules. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left bialgebroid and let $(\overline{\mathcal{H}}, \overline{\Delta}, \overline{\varepsilon})$ be a left \mathcal{H} -module coring. Being an \mathcal{H} -module, $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ has an A-bimodule structure ${}_{s}\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{r^{o}}$ given by

$$a \cdot u \cdot b \coloneqq \eta(a \otimes b^{\circ}) \cdot u = s(a)t(b^{\circ}) \cdot u$$

for all $a, b \in A$, $u \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}$, with respect to which it is an A-coring. In this setting, we may consider the category

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$$
HopfMod := $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ (\mathcal{H} Mod)

of relative $(\overline{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{H})$ -Hopf modules: these are left comodules over the comonoid $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ in the monoidal category ($_{\mathcal{H}}\mathsf{Mod}, \otimes_A, A$). In details, they are left \mathcal{H} -modules ($M, \mu_M : \mathcal{H} \otimes M \to M$) together with a coassociative and counital left $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ -coaction

$$\partial_M \colon M \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{r^\circ} \otimes_A {}_s M, \qquad m \mapsto \sum m_{-1} \otimes_A m_0,$$

which is also a morphism of left \mathcal{H} -modules, that is, for all $h \in \mathcal{H}$, $m \in M$ one has

$$\sum h_1 \cdot m_{-1} \otimes_A h_2 \cdot m_0 = h \cdot \partial_M(m) = \partial_M(h \cdot m) = \sum (h \cdot m)_{-1} \otimes_A (h \cdot m)_0.$$

In the present subsection we are interested in the category $\frac{\overline{\mathcal{H}}}{\mathcal{H}}$ HopfMod. A Hopf algebroid analogue of Doi's equivalence theorem [11, Theorem 2.3] will be of key importance in proving Theorem 2.14 below.

Now, suppose that $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is a morphism of left \mathcal{H} -module corings. Recall that if *C* is an *A*-coring with distinguished group-like element $g \in C$ and if (N, ∂_N) is a left *C*-comodule, then

$$N^{\operatorname{coc}} := \left\{ n \in N \mid \sum n_{-1} \otimes_A n_0 = g \otimes_A n \right\}$$

is the so-called space of *(left) coinvariant elements* in *N*. In the standing hypotheses, $\pi(1_{\mathcal{H}})$ is a distinguished group-like element in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ and we may consider

$$\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}} = \left\{ x \in \mathcal{H} \mid \sum \pi(x_1) \otimes_A x_2 = \pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_A x \right\},\$$

(also denoted by $\mathcal{H}^{co\pi}$), which is the space of (left) coinvariant elements in \mathcal{H} under the (left) $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ -coaction $\mathcal{H} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ given by

$$\partial \coloneqq (\pi \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \circ \Delta. \tag{11}$$

Remark 1.11. Observe that, in general, $\mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ is just a right *A*-submodule (left A° -submodule) with respect to the action \triangleleft from (1) and a left *A*-submodule (right A° -submodule) with respect to the action \blacktriangleright , because of (7):

$$\sum \pi((a \bullet x)_1) \otimes_A (a \bullet x)_2 = \sum \pi(x_1) \otimes_A x_2 t(a^\circ) = \pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_A (a \bullet x),$$

$$\sum \pi((x \triangleleft a)_1) \otimes_A (x \triangleleft a)_2 = \sum \pi(x_1) \otimes_A t(a^\circ) x_2 = \pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_A (x \triangleleft a).$$

Lemma 1.12. The space $\mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ is an A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via t and ∂ from (11) is right $\mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ -linear.

Proof. Since $\mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ and clearly $1_{\mathcal{H}} \in \mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$, to check that it is a k-subalgebra we just need to verify that the induced multiplication is well-defined. To this aim, observe that $\overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ has a left \mathcal{H} -module structure given by Corollary 1.9 and it has a natural right \mathcal{H} -module structure given by

$$\mathcal{H} \to \operatorname{End}_{\Bbbk}\left(\overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}\right)^{\circ}, \qquad x \mapsto \left[u \otimes_{A} y \mapsto u \otimes_{A} yx\right].$$
 (12)

Thanks to this, we may compute directly that for $x, y \in \mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$

$$\sum \pi((xy)_1) \otimes_A (xy)_2 = \sum \pi(x_1y_1) \otimes_A x_2y_2 = \sum x_1 \cdot \pi(y_1) \otimes_A x_2y_2 \stackrel{(9)}{=} x \cdot \left(\sum \pi(y_1) \otimes_A y_2\right)$$
$$= x \cdot \left(\pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_A y\right) \stackrel{(9)}{=} \sum \pi(x_1) \otimes_A x_2y \stackrel{(12)}{=} \left(\sum \pi(x_1) \otimes_A x_2\right)y = \pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_A xy,$$

so that $\mathcal{H}^{\cos\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ is indeed a subalgebra. Moreover, since

$$\sum \pi(t(a^{\circ})_{1}) \otimes_{A} t(a^{\circ})_{2} = (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})(\Delta(t(a^{\circ}))) \stackrel{(7)}{=} (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})(1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{A} t(a^{\circ})) = \pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_{A} t(a^{\circ})$$

for all $a \in A$, t takes values in $\mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ and so $\mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ is A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via t.

LAIACHI EL KAOUTIT, ARYAN GHOBADI, PAOLO SARACCO, AND JOOST VERCRUYSSE

To conclude, notice that if $x \in \mathcal{H}$ and $b \in \mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ then

$$\partial(xb) = \sum \pi(x_1b_1) \otimes_A x_2b_2 \stackrel{(9)}{=} x \cdot \left(\sum \pi(b_1) \otimes_A b_2\right) = x \cdot (\pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_A b)$$
$$\stackrel{(9)}{=} \sum \pi(x_1) \otimes_A x_2b \stackrel{(12)}{=} \left(\sum \pi(x_1) \otimes_A x_2\right)b = \partial(x)b.$$

Set $B := \mathcal{H}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$, for the sake of brevity. Since \mathcal{H} becomes a right *B*-module by restriction of scalars along $\iota : B \to \mathcal{H}$, we can consider the category _{*B*}Mod and the extension of scalars functor

$$F := \mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} (-) \colon {}_{B}\mathsf{Mod} \to {}_{\mathcal{H}}\mathsf{Mod},$$

which is left adjoint to the restriction of scalars functor $_{\iota}(-): {}_{\mathcal{H}}\mathsf{Mod} \to {}_{B}\mathsf{Mod}$. It turns out that the natural transformation

$$\mathcal{H} \otimes_B (-) \to \overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A (\mathcal{H} \otimes_B -), \qquad h \otimes_B - \mapsto \sum \pi(h_1) \otimes_A (h_2 \otimes_B -)$$

induces a morphism of comonads

$$\Theta: \mathcal{H} \otimes_{B_{l}} (-) \to \overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{A} -, \qquad h \otimes_{B} (-) \mapsto \sum \pi(h_{1}) \otimes_{A} h_{2} \cdot (-)$$
(13)

as in [20, Proposition 2.1] and so, since $\overline{\mathcal{H}}^{\mathcal{H}}$ HopfMod is also the category of Eilenberg-Moore objects for the comonad $\overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A - \text{over }_{\mathcal{H}}$ Mod, the functor F induces a functor $\mathcal{K}: {}_{B}$ Mod $\rightarrow \overline{\mathcal{H}}^{\mathcal{H}}$ HopfMod. The following theorem is nothing else than [20, Theorem 2.7].

Theorem 1.13. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left bialgebroid with ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ A-flat. If $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is a left \mathcal{H} -module coring together with a morphism $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ of left \mathcal{H} -module corings and if $B = \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$, then

$$\mathcal{K}: {}_{\scriptscriptstyle B}\mathsf{Mod} \to {}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathsf{HopfMod}, \qquad M \mapsto \mathcal{H} \otimes_{\scriptscriptstyle B} M,$$

is an equivalence of categories if and only if

(1) $\mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} -: {}_{B}\mathsf{Mod} \to {}_{\mathcal{H}}\mathsf{Mod} \text{ is comonadic,}$

(2) the canonical morphism of comonads Θ is a natural isomorphism.

Lemma 1.14. The natural transformation Θ of (13) is a natural isomorphism if and only if

$$\xi \colon \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B_{\iota}} \mathcal{H} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{\iota^{\circ}} \otimes_{A_{\iota}s} \mathcal{H}, \qquad x \otimes_{B} y \mapsto \sum \pi(x_{1}) \otimes_{A} x_{2} y, \tag{14}$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. If Θ is a natural isomorphism, then $\Theta_{\mathcal{H}} = \xi$ is an isomorphism. Conversely, since ξ is right \mathcal{H} -linear with respect to the regular right \mathcal{H} -module structures, we may conclude that if ξ is an isomorphism, then

 $\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} M : (\mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B_{\iota}} \mathcal{H}) \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} M \to (\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{\iota^{\circ}} \otimes_{A_{s}} \mathcal{H}) \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} M, \qquad (x \otimes_{B} y) \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} m \mapsto \sum (\pi(x_{1}) \otimes_{A} x_{2} y \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} m),$ is an isomorphism for every *M* in {}_{\mathcal{H}} Mod, natural in *M*. The commutativity of the diagram

allows us to conclude that if ξ is an isomorphism, then Θ is a natural isomorphism. Notice that, due to the fact that only regular module structures are involved, the vertical isomorphisms are, in fact, the canonical isomorphism

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B_{\iota}} \mathcal{H} \end{pmatrix} \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} M \cong \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B} (_{\iota} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} M) \cong \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B_{\iota}} M \quad \text{and} \\ (\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{t^{\circ}} \otimes_{A_{\iota}} {}_{s} \mathcal{H}) \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} M \cong \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{t^{\circ}} \otimes_{A} (_{s} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{\mathcal{H}} M) \cong \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{t^{\circ}} \otimes_{A_{\iota}} {}_{s} M.$$

In general, even when \mathcal{K} is not an equivalence of categories, \mathcal{K} still admits a right adjoint functor, as in the case for ordinary Hopf algebras.

Proposition 1.15. The construction $M^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}} := \{m \in M \mid \sum m_{-1} \otimes_A m_0 = \pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_A m\}$ for every M in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathcal{H}}$ HopfMod induces a functor $(-)^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}} : \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathcal{H}}$ HopfMod \rightarrow_B Mod which is right adjoint to \mathcal{K} . Unit and counit are given by

$$\zeta_{V} \colon V \to (\mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} V)^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}}, \qquad v \mapsto 1 \otimes_{B} v, \qquad \left(V \text{ in }_{B} \operatorname{\mathsf{Mod}}\right)$$
$$\theta_{M} \colon \mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} M^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}} \to M, \qquad h \otimes_{B} m \mapsto h \cdot m, \qquad \left(M \text{ in } \overline{}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\overline{\mathcal{H}}} \operatorname{Hopf} \operatorname{Mod}\right) \qquad (15)$$

respectively.

Proof. Given a relative Hopf module (M, μ_M, ∂_M) , denote by $\Omega(M)$ its underlying *H*-module structure (M, μ_M) . In view of [20, Proposition 2.3], \mathcal{K} admits a right adjoint which is explicitly realized on objects as the equalizer of the parallel pair

$$\Omega(M) \xrightarrow[\partial_M]{m \mapsto \pi 1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A m} {}_{l} \left(\overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A \Omega(M) \right)$$

which is exactly $M^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$.

2. The correspondence for arbitrary Hopf Algebroids

This Section contains our first main result, namely, Theorem 2.15.

2.1. The correspondence between left ideals two-sided coideals and right coideal subrings. Henceforth, all bialgebroids will be left ones.

2.1.1. General facts about left ideals two-sided coideals and right coideal subrings. As a matter of notation, for (A, \mathcal{H}) a bialgebroid and $B \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ we set

$$\mathcal{H}^+ \coloneqq \ker(\varepsilon) \qquad \text{and} \qquad B^+ \coloneqq B \cap \mathcal{H}^+$$

Denote by $\iota: B \to \mathcal{H}$ the inclusion. Assume that *B* is an *A*^o-subring of \mathcal{H} via *t* (as we will have later in the paper), that is, *B* is an *A*^o-ring via a k-algebra extension $t': A^o \to B$ such that $\iota \circ t' = t$. If we consider the restriction $\varepsilon' := \varepsilon \circ \iota$ of ε to *B*, then the latter is a right *A*-linear morphism (left *A*^o-linear, for the sake of precision) and $B^+ = \mathcal{H}^+ \cap B = \ker(\varepsilon) \cap B = \ker(\varepsilon')$.

Remark 2.1. If *B* is an A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via *t*, then we have that

$$0 \longrightarrow B^{+} \xrightarrow{\iota} B \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} A \longrightarrow 0$$
(16)

is a short exact sequence of left *B*-modules, where *A* has the left *B*-module structure coming from the restriction of scalars along the inclusion ι of *B* into \mathcal{H} . Namely,

$$b \cdot a \coloneqq \varepsilon \left(\iota(b)t(a^{\circ}) \right) = \varepsilon \left(\iota(bt'(a^{\circ})) \right) = \varepsilon' \left(bt'(a^{\circ}) \right)$$
(17)

for all $a \in A, b \in B$ (see (10)). Moreover, (16) is a split short exact sequence of right *A*-modules (in fact, left A° -modules via t'), where t' provides an *A*-linear section for ε' in view of (B6):

$$\varepsilon'(t'(a^{\circ})) = \varepsilon(\iota(t'(a^{\circ}))) = \varepsilon(t(a^{\circ})) = a.$$

Recall that an A° -subring B of \mathcal{H} via t is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring if it admits a right A-linear coaction $\delta \colon B_{t^\circ} \to B_{t^\circ} \otimes_A {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^\circ}$ such that the following diagram commutes

Remark 2.2. It is a well-known fact that if (A, \mathcal{H}) is a left bialgebroid, then the category \mathcal{H} Comod of left \mathcal{H} -comodules is a monoidal category with tensor product \otimes_A and unit object A, where the \mathcal{H} -coaction on A is provided by the source map (see, e.g., [3, Theorem 3.18], where the property is stated for the right-hand scenario) and where every left \mathcal{H} -comodule M is a right A-module with action

$$m \cdot a := \sum \varepsilon(m_{-1}s(a)) \cdot m_0 \tag{19}$$

for all $m \in M$ and $a \in A$. By applying this result to the co-opposite left bialgebroid $(A^{\circ}, \mathcal{H}^{co})$, we conclude that the category $\mathsf{Comod}^{\mathcal{H}}$ of right comodules over the left bialgebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) is monoidal too, with tensor product $\otimes_{A^{\circ}}$ and unit A° , where the \mathcal{H} -coaction on A° is provided by the target map. In this setting, if ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat, then a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring is nothing other than a monoid in $(\mathsf{Comod}^{\mathcal{H}}, \otimes_{A^{\circ}}, A^{\circ})$.

Recall that a 2-sided coideal N in a bialgebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) is an A-subbimodule of ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{r^{o}}$ such that

$$\Delta(N) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}\left(N \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} + \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} N\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \varepsilon(N) = 0_{A},$$

where Im(-) denotes the canonical image in the tensor product ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{o}} \otimes_{A} {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t^{o}}$.

2.1.2. Correspondence between left ideals two-sided coideals and quotient module corings.

Proposition 2.3. We have a well-defined bijective correspondence

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{left ideals} \\ 2\text{-sided coideals in } \mathcal{H} \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\Xi} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{quotient left } \mathcal{H}\text{-module} \\ \text{corings of } \mathcal{H} \end{array} \right\}$$

$$I \longmapsto \left[\mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{H} / I \right]$$

$$\ker(\pi) \longleftarrow \left[\mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\pi} \overline{\mathcal{H}} \right].$$

Proof. Let us begin by picking a left ideal 2-sided coideal $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ and consider the canonical projection $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$. Since I is a left \mathcal{H} -submodule of $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}/I$ becomes a left \mathcal{H} -module and, in particular, an A^e-module with ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}/I_{t^{o}}$ and π is left \mathcal{H} -linear and, in particular, A-bilinear. Since *I* is a 2-sided coideal, ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}/I_{t^{0}}$ inherits a structure $(\overline{\Delta}, \overline{\varepsilon})$ of *A*-coring in such a way that



are commutative diagrams in ${}_{A}Mod_{A} = {}_{A^{e}}Mod$. Let us show that both $\overline{\Delta}$ and $\overline{\varepsilon}$ are morphisms of left \mathcal{H} -modules. Set $\overline{\mathcal{H}} := \mathcal{H}/I$, for the sake of brevity. The left \mathcal{H} -linearity of $\overline{\Delta}$ is provided by the commutativity of the following diagram



The left \mathcal{H} -linearity of $\overline{\varepsilon}$ instead is provided by the commutativity of the following diagram



Summing up, \mathcal{H}/I is a left \mathcal{H} -module coring.

In the opposite direction, assume that we have a surjective morphism of vector spaces $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ which is of left \mathcal{H} -module corings and consider ker $(\pi) \subseteq \mathcal{H}$. Since π is of left \mathcal{H} -modules, $ker(\pi)$ is a left ideal in \mathcal{H} . Moreover, being π of A-corings, we have that the following diagram with exact rows commutes



Since $\ker(\pi \otimes_A \pi) = \operatorname{Im}(\ker(\pi) \otimes_A \mathcal{H} + \mathcal{H} \otimes_A \ker(\pi))$ and since $\varepsilon(\ker(\pi)) \subseteq \overline{\varepsilon}(\pi(\ker(\pi))) = 0_A$, it follows that $\ker(\pi)$ is also a 2-sided coideal.

2.1.3. From left ideal two-sided coideals to right coideal subrings.

Proposition 2.4. Under the assumption that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat, we have a well-defined inclusion-preserving correspondence

$$\left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{left ideals} \\ 2\text{-sided coideals in }\mathcal{H}\end{array}\right\} \xrightarrow{\Psi} \left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{right }\mathcal{H}\text{-comodule} \\ A^{\circ}\text{-subrings via t in }\mathcal{H}\end{array}\right\}$$

Proof. Let us begin by picking a left ideal 2-sided coideal $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ and consider the canonical projection $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$. We already know from Proposition 2.3 that \mathcal{H}/I is an A-coring and that the canonical projection $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$ is a morphism of left \mathcal{H} -module corings. Therefore, in view of Lemma 1.12, $\mathcal{H}^{\cos \frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$ is an A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via t. To finish checking the validity of the first correspondence, we are left to check that it is an \mathcal{H} -comodule with respect to the obvious coaction induced by Δ . To this aim, recall that $\mathcal{H}^{\cos \frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$ can be realized as the following equalizer in Mod_A (in fact, in $_{A^{\circ}}$ Mod)

$$\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}_{\overline{I}_{t^{\circ}}}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \xrightarrow{\pi t \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{I} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}}.$$
(20)

Since ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat, it is enough for us to check that, for every $x \in \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$, $\sum x_{1} \otimes_{A} x_{2}$ equalizes the pair $((\pi \circ t) \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}, (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})(\Delta \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}))$. However,

$$(\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})(\Delta \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})\left(\sum x_{1} \otimes_{A} x_{2}\right) = (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})(\Delta \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})\Delta(x)$$

$$\stackrel{(6)}{=} (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})(\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \Delta)\Delta(x) = \left(\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I} \otimes_{A} \Delta\right)(\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})\Delta(x) \stackrel{(20)}{=} \left(\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I} \otimes_{A} \Delta\right)(\pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_{A} x)$$

$$= \sum \pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_{A} x_{1} \otimes_{A} x_{2} = ((\pi \circ t) \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})\left(\sum x_{1} \otimes_{A} x_{2}\right)$$

and hence $\mathcal{H}^{\cos \frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$ is indeed a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring via t.

It is clear that the correspondence is inclusion-preserving because if $I \subseteq J$, then we have a left \mathcal{H} -linear surjective morphism of *A*-corings $\mathcal{H}/I \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{H}/J$ and hence $\mathcal{H}^{\cos\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}^{\cos\frac{\mathcal{H}}{J}}$. \Box

2.1.4. From right coideal subrings to left ideals two-sided coideals. In this section we consider a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring B of \mathcal{H} and utilise the notation introduced in Section 2.1.1.

Lemma 2.5. Let B be a right H-comodule A° -subring of H via t and let $\iota: B \to H$ be the inclusion. Denote by $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}B^+$ the canonical projection of left H-modules. Then

$$\pi \circ \iota = \pi \circ \iota \circ t' \circ \varepsilon' = \pi \circ t \circ \varepsilon \circ \iota. \tag{21}$$

In particular,

$$(\pi \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \circ \Delta \circ \iota = (\pi \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \circ (t \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \circ \iota.$$
(22)

Proof. Notice that for all $b \in B$ we have that $b - t'(\varepsilon'(b)^\circ) \in B^+$ and hence $\iota(b - t'(\varepsilon'(b)^\circ)) \in \mathcal{H}B^+$. Therefore,

$$\pi\iota(b) = \iota(b) + \mathcal{H}B^+ = \iota\left(t'\left(\varepsilon'(b)^\circ\right)\right) + \iota\left(b - t'\left(\varepsilon'(b)^\circ\right)\right) + \mathcal{H}B^+ = \pi\iota\left(t'\left(\varepsilon'(b)^\circ\right)\right).$$

The right-most equality follows by definition of t' and ε' . To conclude, observe that

$$(\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ \Delta \circ \iota \stackrel{(18)}{=} (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ (\iota \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ \delta$$
$$\stackrel{(21)}{=} (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ (t \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ (\varepsilon \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ (\iota \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ \delta$$
$$\stackrel{(18)}{=} (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ (t \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ (\varepsilon \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ \Delta \circ \iota$$
$$= (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ (t \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ \iota.$$

Proposition 2.6. We have a well-defined inclusion-preserving correspondence

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} right \ \mathcal{H}\text{-}comodule} \\ A^{\circ}\text{-}subrings \ via \ t \ in \ \mathcal{H} \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\Phi} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} left \ ideals \\ 2\text{-}sided \ coideals \ in \ \mathcal{H} \end{array} \right\} \\ B \longmapsto \mathcal{H}B^+$$

Proof. Assume that we have a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring B of \mathcal{H} , where the A° -ring structure comes from a k-algebra extension $t' : A^{\circ} \to B$ as in Remark 2.1. We may tensor (16) by \mathcal{H} over B on the left and eventually apply the Snake Lemma to find the following commutative diagram of left \mathcal{H} -modules, with exact rows,

$$\mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} B^{+} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} i} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} B \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} \varepsilon'} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} A \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow^{\nu} \downarrow^{\nu} \qquad \downarrow^{\nu} \downarrow^{\cong} \qquad \stackrel{\varphi}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\pi} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H} B^{+}} \longrightarrow 0$$

If we consider $I := \mathcal{H}B^+ = \nu' (\mathcal{H} \otimes_B B^+)$, then this is a left \mathcal{H} -ideal by construction. Let us prove that it is also a two-sided coideal.

First of all, let us collect some observations that will be needed afterwards. Recall from Corollary 1.9 that we have a natural \mathcal{H} -action on $\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ given by

$$\mathcal{H} \otimes (\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \xrightarrow{i} \mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}, \qquad x \otimes \left(\sum_j h_j \otimes_A k_j\right) \mapsto \sum_j x_1 h_j \otimes_A x_2 k_j.$$
 (23)

and a natural action of \mathcal{H} on $\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}B^+ \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ given by

$$\mathcal{H} \otimes \left(\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}\right) \xrightarrow{\cdot} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}, \qquad x \otimes \left(\sum_{j} \pi(h_{j}) \otimes_{A} k_{j}\right) \mapsto \sum_{j} \pi(x_{1}h_{j}) \otimes_{A} x_{2}k_{j}, \qquad (24)$$

where $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}B^+$ is the canonical projection. Moreover, $B \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule with a right *A*-linear coaction $\delta: B_{t^\circ} \to B_{t^\circ} \otimes_A {}_s \mathcal{H}_{t^\circ}$ such that (18) commutes, that is, for every $b \in B$ we have

$$\sum \iota(b_0) \otimes_A b_1 = \sum \iota(b)_1 \otimes_A \iota(b)_2.$$
⁽²⁵⁾

Therefore, (23) induces an action of *B* on $\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ via restriction of scalars along ι ,

$$B \otimes (\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}, \qquad b \otimes \left(\sum_j h_j \otimes_A k_j\right) \mapsto \sum_j \iota(b)_1 h_j \otimes_A \iota(b)_2 k_j = \sum_j \iota(b_0) h_j \otimes_A b_1 k_j,$$

with respect to which $\Delta \colon \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ becomes left *B*-linear:

$$\Delta(\iota(b)h) = \sum \iota(b)_1 h_1 \otimes_A \iota(b)_2 h_2 = b \cdot \left(\sum h_1 \otimes_A h_2\right)$$

Similarly, (24) induces an action of *B* on $\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}B^+ \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$. In particular, (23) and (24) themselves factor through the tensor product over *B* (by associativity of the multiplication in \mathcal{H}):

$$\mathcal{H} \otimes_B (\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \xrightarrow{\mu} \mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{H} \otimes_B \left(\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+} \otimes_A \mathcal{H} \right) \xrightarrow{\mu'} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}.$$

Furthermore, we have a well-defined action of *B* on $B \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$:

$$B \otimes (B \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \to B \otimes_A \mathcal{H}, \qquad b \otimes \left(\sum_j b'_j \otimes_A h_j\right) \mapsto \sum_j b_0 b'_j \otimes_A b_1 h_j$$

and $\delta: B \to B \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ becomes left *B*-linear with respect to this *B*-module structure and the regular *B*-action on the domain. By summing up all the informations we collected, we have a commutative diagram of left \mathcal{H} -modules and left \mathcal{H} -module homomorphisms



In view of this, for every $\sum_i h_i \iota(b_i) \in \mathcal{H}B$ we have

$$(\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \left(\Delta \left(\sum_{i} h_{i} \iota(b_{i}) \right) \right)^{(26)} = \mu' \left(\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \left((\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \circ \Delta \circ \iota \right) \right) \left(\sum_{i} h_{i} \otimes_{B} b_{i} \right)$$
$$\stackrel{(22)}{=} \sum_{i} h_{i} \cdot \left(\pi(1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_{A} \iota(b_{i}) \right)^{(24)} = \sum_{i} \pi((h_{i})_{1}) \otimes_{A} (h_{i})_{2} \iota(b_{i})$$

and hence for all $\sum_i h_i \iota(b_i) \in \mathcal{H}B^+$ we have

$$(\pi \otimes_A \pi) \left(\Delta \left(\sum_i h_i \iota(b_i) \right) \right) = \sum_i \pi \left((h_i)_1 \right) \otimes_A \pi \left((h_i)_2 \iota(b_i) \right) \stackrel{(21)}{=} 0.$$

Since, in addition,

$$\varepsilon\left(\sum_{i}h_{i}\iota(b_{i})\right)=\sum_{i}\varepsilon(h_{i}\iota(b_{i}))\stackrel{(B5)}{=}\sum_{i}\varepsilon\left(h_{i}\iota(t'(\varepsilon'(b_{i})^{\circ}))\right)=0,$$

we have that $\mathcal{H}B^+$ is a two-sided coideal (in view of [7, 17.14], for instance). Again it is evident that if $B \subseteq \tilde{B}$, then $\mathcal{H}B^+ \subseteq \mathcal{H}\tilde{B}^+$. Thus, the correspondence is inclusion-preserving.

2.1.5. The canonical inclusions.

Proposition 2.7. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left bialgebroid over A. Let B be a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring via t of \mathcal{H} . In view of Proposition 2.6 we know that $\mathcal{H}B^{+}$ is a left ideal 2-sided coideal in \mathcal{H} . Denote by $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}B^{+}$ the canonical projection. Then the inclusion $\iota: B \to \mathcal{H}$ factors through $\mathcal{H}^{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}}$. That is to say, we have an inclusion $B \subseteq \mathcal{H}^{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}}$, which we denote by η_{B} , such that $\iota = j' \circ \eta_{B}$ where $j': \mathcal{H}^{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}} \to \mathcal{H}$ is the canonical inclusion.

Proof. Recall that $\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+}}$ can be realized as the following equalizer in Mod_A

$$\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}_{\overline{\mathcal{H}}B^+}} \xrightarrow{j'} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{(\pi \circ l) \otimes_A \mathcal{H}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+} \otimes_A \mathcal{H},$$

see (20). By (22), there exists $\eta_B \colon B \to \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+}}$ such that $\iota \colon B \to \mathcal{H}$ factors as $j' \circ \eta_B$.

Proposition 2.8. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left bialgebroid over A such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. Let I be a left ideal 2-sided coideal in \mathcal{H} . In view of Proposition 2.4 we know that $B := \mathcal{H}^{\infty \frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$ is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via t. Then we have an inclusion $\mathcal{H}B^{+} \subseteq I$ that we denote by ϵ_{I} .

Proof. Notice that $\overline{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{H}/I$ is clearly an object in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}^{\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ HopfMod. Set $\pi : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$. If we consider $\overline{\mathcal{H}}^{co\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$, then it is not hard to show that the correspondence defined by

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}} \longleftrightarrow A$$
$$\pi(h) \longmapsto \overline{\varepsilon}(\pi(h)) = \varepsilon(h)$$
$$\pi(t(a^{\circ})) \longleftrightarrow a$$

is a left *B*-linear isomorphism, where the *B*-module structures are both induced by the \mathcal{H} -module structures via restriction of scalars along $\iota: B \to \mathcal{H}$. In fact, for every $\pi(h) \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ we have

$$\sum \pi(h)_1 \otimes_A \pi(h)_2 = \pi(1) \otimes_A \pi(h)$$

and so

$$\pi(h) = \left(\overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A \overline{\varepsilon}\right) \left(\sum \pi(h)_1 \otimes_A \pi(h)_2\right) = \left(\overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_A \overline{\varepsilon}\right) (\pi(1) \otimes_A \pi(h)) = \pi \left(t(\overline{\varepsilon}(\pi(h))^\circ)\right) = \pi \left(t(\varepsilon(h)^\circ)\right).$$

This proves that the correspondence is bijective. To prove that it is left *B*-linear, notice that

$$\overline{\varepsilon}\Big(\pi(\iota(b)h)\Big) = \varepsilon(\iota(b)h) \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle (B5)}{=} \varepsilon(\iota(b)s\varepsilon(h)) \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle (17)}{=} b \cdot \varepsilon(h).$$

Since, in addition, we know from a short exact sequence like (16) that $A \cong B/B^+$ as left *B*-module, we may consider the composition

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}} \cong \mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} \frac{B}{B^{+}} \cong \mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} A \cong \mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} \overline{\mathcal{H}}^{\operatorname{co}\overline{\mathcal{H}}} \xrightarrow{\theta_{\overline{\mathcal{H}}}} \overline{\mathcal{H}} = \frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}$$
(27)

explicitly given by $h + \mathcal{H}B^+ \mapsto \pi(h) = h + I$ for all $h \in \mathcal{H}$, where $\theta_{\overline{\mathcal{H}}}$ is the $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ -component of the counit (15). Denote it by ψ and consider the commutative diagram

It follows that $\mathcal{H}B^+ \subseteq I$ as claimed.

Theorem 2.9. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left bialgebroid such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat.

- (1) If I is a left ideal 2-sided coideal in \mathcal{H} and if $B := \mathcal{H}^{\cos \frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}}$, then $B = \mathcal{H}^{\cos \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+}}$. That is, $\Psi \Phi \Psi(I) = \Psi(I)$.
- (2) If B is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via t and if $I := \mathcal{H}B^+$, then $I = \mathcal{H}\left(\mathcal{H}^{\infty\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}\right)^+$. That is, $\Phi\Psi\Phi(B) = \Phi(B)$.

In other words, Φ and Ψ form a monotone Galois connection (or, equivalently, an adjunction) between the two lattices.

Proof. Flatness is needed to apply Proposition 2.4. Recall that for any left ideal 2-sided coideal *I* and for any right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via *t* we have that $B \subseteq \mathcal{H}^{\circ\circ\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}}}$ via η_{B} and $\mathcal{H}\left(\mathcal{H}^{\circ\circ\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}\right)^{+} \subseteq I$ via ϵ_{I} , by Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.8 respectively.

(1) Let *I* be a left ideal 2-sided coideal in \mathcal{H} and let $B := \mathcal{H}^{\infty \frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}} = \Psi(I)$. Since $\mathcal{H}B^+ \subseteq I$, we have a surjective morphism of left \mathcal{H} -module corings $\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}B^+ \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{H}/I$ such that



commutes and hence

$$B \subseteq \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}} = B.$$

(2) Let *B* be a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via *t* and set $I := \mathcal{H}B^{+} = \Phi(B)$. Since $B \subseteq \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}}} = \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{T}}}$ we have that

$$I = \mathcal{H}B^+ \subseteq \mathcal{H}\left(\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}}\right)^+ \subseteq I.$$

Corollary 2.10. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left bialgebroid such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. For I a left ideal 2-sided coideal in \mathcal{H} and B a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring via t of \mathcal{H} , we have that

$$\mathcal{H}B^+\subseteq I \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad B\subseteq \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}}.$$

Proof. This is simply a restatement of the fact that Φ is left adjoint to Ψ .

2.2. The Hopf algebroid case and the bijective correspondence. In case the bialgebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) is a left Hopf algebroid, one can obtain finer results on the correspondence between left ideal two-sided coideals and right comodule subrings than those in Proposition 2.4 and Proposition 2.6, as we are going to show in the present subsection.

Remark 2.11. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left bialgebroid over A. We may consider the tensor product

$$\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_t \otimes_{A^{\circ}} {}_t \mathcal{H} \coloneqq \frac{\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}}{\left\langle xt(a^{\circ}) \otimes y - x \otimes t(a^{\circ})y \mid a \in A, x, y \in \mathcal{H} \right\rangle}.$$

It becomes an A°-bimodule via

$$a^{\circ} \nvdash (x \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y) = xs(a) \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y$$
 and $(x \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y) \checkmark a^{\circ} = x \otimes_{A^{\circ}} s(a)y$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{H}, a \in A$. Inside $\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}$, we isolate the distinguished subspace

$$\mathcal{H} \times_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H} \coloneqq \left\{ \sum_{i} x_{i} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y_{i} \middle| \sum_{i} t(a^{\circ}) x_{i} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y_{i} = \sum_{i} x_{i} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y_{i} t(a^{\circ}) \right\}$$

It is an A° -subbimodule and a k-algebra with unit $1 \otimes_{A^{\circ}} 1^{\circ}$ and multiplication

$$\left(\sum_{i} x_{i} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y_{i}\right) \left(\sum_{j} u_{j} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} v_{j}\right) \coloneqq \sum_{i,j} x_{i} u_{j} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} v_{j} y_{i},$$

$$t \text{ an } \mathcal{A}(s) = \mathcal{A}(s) \text{ is }$$

$$(29)$$

which acts from the right on $\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}$ via

$$(\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}) \otimes (\mathcal{H} \times_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}, \qquad \left(\sum_{i} x_{i} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y_{i}\right) \otimes \left(\sum_{j} u_{j} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} v_{j}\right) \to \sum_{i,j} x_{i} u_{j} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} v_{j} y_{i}.$$
(30)

If \mathcal{H} is, in addition, a left Hopf algebroid in the sense of [34, Theorem and Definition 3.5] with canonical map

$$\beta\colon \mathcal{H}_{t}\otimes_{A^{\circ}}{}_{t}\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}}\otimes_{A}{}_{s}\mathcal{H}, \qquad x\otimes_{A^{\circ}}y \mapsto \sum x_{1}\otimes_{A}x_{2}y, \tag{31}$$

then the assignment

$$\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_t \otimes_{A^\circ} {}_t \mathcal{H}, \qquad x \mapsto \beta^{-1}(x \otimes_A 1_{\mathcal{H}}) \eqqcolon \sum x_+ \otimes_{A^\circ} x_-$$

induces a morphism of k-algebras

$$\gamma \colon \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \times_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}, \qquad x \mapsto \beta^{-1}(x \otimes_{A} 1_{\mathcal{H}}).$$
(32)

The fact that γ lands into $\mathcal{H} \times_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}$ is [34, (3.3)] and the fact that it is multiplicative and unital is [34, (3.4) and (3.5)]. The map γ is referred to as the *the (left) translation map*. In particular,

$$\sum (xy)_+ \otimes_A (xy)_- = \sum x_+ y_+ \otimes_A y_- x_-$$
(33)

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{H}$.

Lemma 2.12. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left Hopf algebroid over A such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. Let B be a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring of \mathcal{H} via t such that for all $b \in B$, there exists $\sum_{i} b_{i} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} h_{i} \in B \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}$ such that

$$\beta^{-1}(\iota(b)\otimes_A 1_{\mathcal{H}}) = \sum_i \iota(b_i) \otimes_{A^\circ} h_i.$$
(34)

Then the canonical isomorphism

$$\beta\colon \mathcal{H}_t\otimes_{A^\circ}{}_t\mathcal{H}\to \mathcal{H}_{t^\circ}\otimes_{A}{}_s\mathcal{H}, \qquad x\otimes_{A^\circ} y\mapsto \sum x_1\otimes_A x_2y$$

induces an isomorphism

$$\xi\colon \mathcal{H}_{\iota}\otimes_{B}{}_{\iota}\mathcal{H}\to \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}}{}^{\iota^{\circ}}\otimes_{A}{}_{s}\mathcal{H}.$$

- -

Proof. Consider the composition

$$\mathcal{H}_{t} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} {}_{t}\mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \otimes_{A} {}_{s}\mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}.$$

It satisfies

$$(\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})\beta(x\iota(b) \otimes_{A} y) = \sum \pi (x_{1}\iota(b)_{1}) \otimes_{A} x_{2}\iota(b)_{2}y \stackrel{(24)}{=} x \cdot \left(\sum \pi (\iota(b)_{1}) \otimes_{A} \iota(b)_{2}y\right)$$

$$\stackrel{(25)}{=} x \cdot \left(\sum \pi (\iota(b_{0})) \otimes_{A} b_{1}y\right) \stackrel{(21)}{=} x \cdot \left(\sum \pi \iota (t' (\varepsilon'(b_{0})^{\circ})) \otimes_{A} b_{1}y\right)$$

$$= x \cdot \left(\sum \pi (1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_{A} \left(s(\varepsilon(\iota(b_{0})))\right)b_{1}y\right)$$

$$\stackrel{(25)}{=} x \cdot \left(\sum \pi (1_{\mathcal{H}}) \otimes_{A} \left(s(\varepsilon(\iota(b)_{1}))\right)\iota(b)_{2}y\right)$$

$$\stackrel{(24)}{=} \sum \pi (x_{1}) \otimes_{A} x_{2}\iota(b)y = (\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})\beta(x \otimes_{A} \iota(b)y)$$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{H}, b \in B$, thus it factors through

$$\xi\colon \mathcal{H}_{\iota}\otimes_{B\iota}\mathcal{H}\to \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}}{}^{\iota^{\circ}}\otimes_{A_{s}}\mathcal{H}.$$

In the other direction, consider the composition

$$\mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \otimes_{A_{s}} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\beta^{-1}} \mathcal{H}_{t} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} {}_{t} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{p} \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B_{\iota}} \mathcal{H},$$
(35)

where *p* is the canonical projection. Since ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is *A*-flat, $\mathcal{H}B^{+} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}$ and, in fact, $\mathcal{H}B^{+} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} = \ker(\pi \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H})$. For all $\sum_{j} x_{j}\iota(b_{j}) \otimes_{A} y_{j} \in \mathcal{H}B^{+} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}$ we have

$$\beta^{-1} \left(\sum_{j} x_{j} \iota(b_{j}) \otimes_{A} y_{j} \right) = \sum_{j} (x_{j} \iota(b_{j}))_{+} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} (x_{j} \iota(b_{j}))_{-} y_{j}$$

$$\stackrel{(33)}{=} \sum_{j} (x_{j})_{+} (\iota(b_{j}))_{+} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} (\iota(b_{j}))_{-} (x_{j})_{-} y_{j}$$

$$\stackrel{(30)}{=} \sum_{j} (1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y_{j}) \left(\sum (x_{j})_{+} (\iota(b_{j}))_{+} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} (\iota(b_{j}))_{-} (x_{j})_{-} \right)$$

$$\stackrel{(29)}{=} \sum_{j} (1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y_{j}) \left(\sum (x_{j})_{+} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} (x_{j})_{-} \right) \left(\sum (\iota(b_{j}))_{+} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} (\iota(b_{j}))_{-} \right)$$

$$\stackrel{(34)}{=} \sum_{j} (1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} y_{j}) \left(\sum (x_{j})_{+} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} (x_{j})_{-} \right) \left(\sum_{i} \iota(b_{j,i}) \otimes_{A^{\circ}} h_{j,i} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{i,j} (x_{j})_{+} \iota(b_{j,i}) \otimes_{A^{\circ}} h_{j,i} (x_{j})_{-} y_{j}.$$

Therefore,

$$p\beta^{-1}\left(\sum_{j} x_{j}\iota(b_{j}) \otimes_{A} y_{j}\right) = \sum_{i,j} (x_{j})_{+} \iota(b_{j,i}) \otimes_{B} h_{j,i} (x_{j})_{-} y_{j} = \sum_{j} (x_{j})_{+} \otimes_{B} \left(\sum_{i} \iota(b_{j,i}) h_{j,i}\right) (x_{j})_{-} y_{j}$$

and since

$$\sum_{i} \iota(b_{j,i}) h_{j,i} \stackrel{(34)}{=} \sum \iota(b_{j})_{+} \iota(b_{j})_{-} \stackrel{[34, (3.9)]}{=} s \varepsilon \iota(b_{j}) = 0$$

for all j, we conclude that (35) induces

$$\widetilde{\xi} \colon \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}} \otimes_{A_{s}} \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B_{\iota}} \mathcal{H}$$

which is inverse to ξ .

In view of Lemma 2.12, one obtains the following improvement to Proposition 2.7.

Theorem 2.13. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left Hopf algebroid over A such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. Let B be a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A° -subring via t of \mathcal{H} such that \mathcal{H} is pure over B on the right and such that $\gamma(B) \subseteq B \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}$. Then $B = \mathcal{H}^{co} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}_{B^{\circ}}}$, that is $\Psi \Phi(B) = B$.

Proof. On the one hand, purity of \mathcal{H} on B entails that

$$B \xrightarrow{\iota} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{x \mapsto 1 \otimes_{B^{1}}} \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B^{\iota}} \mathcal{H}$$

is an equalizer diagram in Vect_k (see Corollary 1.2) and, on the other hand, it entails that $\iota \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}$ is an injective morphism (see Corollary 1.4), so that the condition $\gamma(B) \subseteq B \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}$ makes sense. By definition, $\mathcal{H}^{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}^{B^{\circ}}}$ can be realized as the following equalizer in Vect_k

$$\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}_{\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+}}} \xrightarrow{j'} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{(\pi \circ \iota) \otimes_A \mathcal{H}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+} {}^{\iota^\circ} \otimes_{A_s} \mathcal{H},$$

see (20). Now, commutativity of the following diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} B & \xrightarrow{\iota} & \mathcal{H} & \xrightarrow{x \mapsto 1 \otimes_{B^{X}}} & \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{B_{\iota}} \mathcal{H} \\ & & & \\ \eta_{B} \\ & & \\ \end{array} & & \\ & & \\ \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathcal{HB^{+}}} & \xrightarrow{f'} & \mathcal{H} & \xrightarrow{\pi t \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} & \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{A_{\iota}} \mathcal{H} \\ & & \\ \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathcal{HB^{+}}} \xrightarrow{f'} & \mathcal{H} & \xrightarrow{\pi t \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} & \mathcal{H}_{\iota} \otimes_{A_{\iota}} \mathcal{H} \\ \end{array}$$

together with bijectivity of ξ (Lemma 2.12) entails that η_B is bijective and hence $B = \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^+}}$. \Box

At the same time, one may obtain the following improvement to Proposition 2.8 by taking advantage of Theorem 1.13.

Theorem 2.14. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left Hopf algebroid over A such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. Let $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ be a left ideal 2-sided coideal such that the extension-of-scalars functor $\mathcal{H} \otimes_{B} - is$ comonadic, where $B := \mathcal{H}^{co\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}}$. Then $I = \mathcal{H}B^{+}$, that is to say, $\Phi \Psi(I) = I$.

Proof. First of all, observe that the comonadicity of $\mathcal{H} \otimes_B -$ entails that $\iota: B \to \mathcal{H}$ is pure as a morphism of right A° -modules, in view of [23, §5.3, Theorem] and Corollary 1.4. Thus, let us start by proving that $\gamma(B) \subseteq B \otimes_{A^\circ} \mathcal{H}$ (which now makes sense, because $\iota \otimes_{A^\circ} \mathcal{H}$ is injective by purity). In a nutshell, the following diagram whose rows are equalizers commutes sequentially

In more detail, we want show that for any $b \in B$, $\gamma(b) = \sum b_+ \otimes_{A^\circ} b_- \in B \otimes_{A^\circ} \mathcal{H}$. Since $\iota: B \to \mathcal{H}$ is pure, it follows that $B \otimes_{A^\circ} \mathcal{H} = (\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^\circ} \mathcal{H})^{\operatorname{co} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$ where $\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^\circ} \mathcal{H}$ is considered as a left \mathcal{H}/I -comodule via $(\pi \otimes_A \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{H}})\Delta \otimes_{A^\circ} \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{H}}$. On the other hand, we have that $\sum b_1 \otimes_A b_2 \in 1 \otimes_A B + {}_t I \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$. By equation (3.6) of [34] we have that

$$\sum b_{+1} \otimes_A b_{+2} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} b_{-} = \sum b_1 \otimes_A b_{2+} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} b_{2-} \in 1 \otimes_A \sum b_{+} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} b_{-} + {}_t I \otimes_A \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H}.$$

Hence $\gamma(b) \in (\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A^{\circ}} \mathcal{H})^{\operatorname{co} \frac{\pi}{T}}$.

Now, the additional condition on $\gamma(B)$ we proved above ensures that ξ of (14) is an isomorphism in view of Lemma 2.12. In particular, \mathcal{K} of Theorem 1.13 is an equivalence of categories.

Therefore, the morphism $\theta_{\overline{H}}$ in (27) from the proof of Proposition 2.8 is an isomorphism and hence the vertical arrows in (28) are all isomorphisms. It follows that $I = \mathcal{H}B^+$ as claimed.

Summing up, we have the first main result of this work. The functor $\mathcal{H} \otimes_B -$ in the statement below denotes the extension of scalars functor ${}_B\mathsf{Mod} \to {}_{\mathcal{H}}\mathsf{Mod}$.

Theorem 2.15. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left Hopf algebroid over A such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. We have a well-defined inclusion-preserving bijective correspondence



Proof. It follows from Theorem 2.13 (in view of [23, §5.3, Theorem]) and Theorem 2.14.

Corollary 2.16 (of Theorem 2.15). Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a left Hopf algebroid over A such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H} = {}_{A\otimes 1^{\circ}}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. We have a well-defined inclusion-preserving bijective correspondence



Proof. It follows from Theorem 2.15, once recalled that if \mathcal{H}_B is faithfully flat, then $\mathcal{H} \otimes_B -$ is comonadic.

Remark 2.17. The technical-looking condition " $\gamma(B) \subseteq B \otimes_{A^\circ} \mathcal{H}$ " is automatically satisfied in most of the cases of interest. Apart from the many particular cases we consider below, in general it holds in case the Hopf algebroid has an antipode $S : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$, i.e. if it is a Hopf algebroid in the sense of Böhm, see [3, Definition 4.1]. Indeed in this case we have that the translation map is given explicitly by $\gamma(b) = b_{(1)} \otimes S(b_{(2)})$ so the condition is clearly fulfilled.

The purity of \mathcal{H} over B, for example in Theorem 2.13, cannot be avoided in general, as the subsequent example shows.

Example 2.18. Let *A* be any commutative algebra, $B := (A \otimes A)[X]$ and $\mathcal{H} := (A \otimes A)[X^{\pm 1}]$. Recall that $A \otimes A$ admits a Hopf algebroid structure as in [25, Example 3.1]:

$$\begin{split} s_A \colon A \to A \otimes A, \quad a \mapsto a \otimes 1; & t_A \colon A \to A \otimes A, \quad a \mapsto 1 \otimes a; \\ \varepsilon_A \colon A \otimes A \to A, \quad a \otimes b \mapsto ab; \\ \Delta_A \colon A \otimes A \to (A \otimes A) \otimes_A (A \otimes A), \quad a \otimes b \mapsto (a \otimes 1) \otimes_A (1 \otimes b); \\ \beta_A \colon (A \otimes A)_t \otimes_{A_t} (A \otimes A) \to (A \otimes A)_{t^{\circ}} \otimes_{A_t} s(A \otimes A), & (a \otimes b) \otimes_A (c \otimes d) \mapsto (a \otimes 1) \otimes_A (c \otimes bd). \end{split}$$

In fact, being a commutative Hopf algebroid, $A \otimes A$ admits an antipode

 $S_A: A \otimes A \to A \otimes A, \qquad a \otimes b \mapsto b \otimes a,$

such that $\beta_A^{-1}(x \otimes_A y) = \sum x_1 \otimes_A S_A(x_2)y$, that is

 $\beta_A^{-1} \colon (A \otimes A)_{t^0} \otimes_A {}_s(A \otimes A) \to (A \otimes A)_t \otimes_A {}_t(A \otimes A), \qquad (a \otimes b) \otimes_A (c \otimes d) \mapsto (a \otimes 1) \otimes_A (bc \otimes d).$

We equip *B* (respectively, \mathcal{H}) with the bialgebroid (respectively, Hopf algebroid) structure coming from the base ring extension of the bialgebra $\Bbbk[X]$ (respectively, Hopf algebra $\Bbbk[X^{\pm 1}]$) along the morphism $\Bbbk \to A \otimes A$ (see, for instance, [12, Example 1.4] and [13, Example 3.3]). This is a particular instance of the Connes-Moscovici bialgebroid construction, in which all the actions of the bialgebra (respectively, Hopf algebra) on the base algebra *A* are trivial (see [8, 24] for the original constructions and [32] for the straightforward adaptation to the bialgebra setting). Namely, we have

$$s_B: A \to B, \quad a \mapsto a \otimes 1; \qquad t_B: A \to B, \quad a \mapsto 1 \otimes a;$$

 $\Delta_B: B \to B \otimes_A B, \quad (a \otimes b)X \mapsto (a \otimes 1)X \otimes_A (1 \otimes b)X; \qquad \varepsilon_B: B \to A, \quad (a \otimes b)X \mapsto ab.$

and

$$s_{\mathcal{H}}: A \to \mathcal{H}, \quad a \mapsto a \otimes 1; \qquad t_{\mathcal{H}}: A \to \mathcal{H}, \quad a \mapsto 1 \otimes a;$$

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{H}} \colon \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}, \quad (a \otimes b)X \mapsto (a \otimes 1)X \otimes_{A} (1 \otimes b)X; \qquad \varepsilon_{\mathcal{H}} \colon \mathcal{H} \to A, \quad (a \otimes b)X \mapsto ab;$$

$$\beta_{\mathcal{H}} \colon \mathcal{H}_{t} \otimes_{A} {}_{t}\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{t^{e}} \otimes_{A} {}_{s}\mathcal{H}, \qquad (a \otimes b)X^{n} \otimes_{A} (c \otimes d)X^{m} \mapsto (a \otimes 1)X^{n} \otimes_{A} (c \otimes bd)X^{n+m}.$$

As before, being \mathcal{H} a commutative Hopf algebroid, it admits an antipode as well

$$\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{H}} \colon \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}, \qquad (a \otimes b) X \mapsto (b \otimes a) X^{-1}$$

such that

$$\beta_{\mathcal{H}}^{-1} \colon \mathcal{H}_{t^{\circ}} \otimes_{A_{s}} \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{t} \otimes_{A_{t}} \mathcal{H}, \qquad (a \otimes b) X^{n} \otimes_{A} (c \otimes d) X^{m} \mapsto (a \otimes 1) X^{n} \otimes_{A} (bc \otimes d) X^{m-n}.$$

Observe also that $B^+ = B \cdot \{s(a) - t(a) \mid a \in A\} \oplus B \cdot (1 - X)$: on the one hand, by [32, Proposition 4.3] we know that $\{s(a) - t(a) \mid a \in A\} = Prim(B) \subseteq ker(\varepsilon_B)$ and since 1 - X is (1, X)-skew primitive, it is in $ker(\varepsilon_B)$ too. On the other hand, the composition

$$\frac{B}{B \cdot \{X-1, s(a)-t(a) \mid a \in A\}} \cong \frac{B/B \cdot (X-1)}{B \cdot \{X-1, s(a)-t(a) \mid a \in A\}/B \cdot (X-1)} \cong \frac{A \otimes A}{\ker(\mu_A)} \cong A,$$

where μ_A is the multiplication of A, coincides exactly with the morphism induced by ε_B .

Now, both _{*s*}*B* and _{*s*}*H* are (faithfully) flat over *A* and *B* is a right *H*-comodule *A*-subring of *H* via *t*. Furthermore, for all $a, b \in A, n \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$\gamma((a \otimes b)X^n) = (a \otimes 1)X^n \otimes_A (b \otimes 1)X^{-n} \in (\iota \otimes_A \mathcal{H})(B_t \otimes_A {}_t\mathcal{H}).$$

However, \mathcal{H} cannot be pure over B since $\mathcal{H} = S^{-1}B$ for $S = \{X^n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ To check this, it is enough to tensor the injection $B \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}$ by $A \otimes A \cong B/\langle X \rangle$ over B on the right: $B \otimes_B (A \otimes A) \cong A \otimes A$ while $\mathcal{H} \otimes_B (A \otimes A) = 0$.

To show how Theorem 2.13 fails, consider a generic element

$$h = \sum_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{Z} \\ i \in I}} (a_{z,i} \otimes b_{z,i}) X^z \in (A \otimes A)[X^{\pm 1}]$$

and denote by $\operatorname{supp}(h)$ the set of the $z \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that X^z appears with non-zero coefficient. Then notice that if $z \ge 0$ then $X^z + \mathcal{H}B^+ = 1 + \mathcal{H}B^+$ because

$$1 - X^{z} = (1 + X + \dots + X^{z-1})(1 - X)$$

and if z < 0 then $1/X^{|z|} + \mathcal{H}B^+ = 1 + \mathcal{H}B^+$ too because

$$1-\frac{1}{X^{[\boldsymbol{z}]}}=-\frac{1}{X^{[\boldsymbol{z}]}}\left(1-X^{[\boldsymbol{z}]}\right)\in\mathcal{H}B^+.$$

Therefore

$$(\pi \otimes_A \mathcal{H})\Delta_{\mathcal{H}}(h) = \sum_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{Z} \\ i \in I}} \left(\left(a_{z,i} \otimes 1 \right) X^z + \mathcal{H}B^+ \right) \otimes_A \left(1 \otimes b_{z,i} \right) X^z = 1 \otimes_A h,$$

or, equivalently, $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}B^{+}}}$.

3. Affine groupoids and commutative Hopf algebroids

We discuss here the specific case of the aforementioned correspondence for commutative Hopf algebroids and we apply it to the study of affine groupoids.

3.1. Preliminaries on groupoids and normal subgroupoids.

3.1.1. *Groupoids and subgroupoids*. Recall, for instance from [27, Chapter I, Definition 1.1], that a *groupoid* is a small category (i.e., the class of objects is a set) in which every arrow is invertible. We will usually denote a groupoid \mathscr{G} by a pair $(\mathscr{G}_0, \mathscr{G}_1)$ of sets: the set of objects \mathscr{G}_0 and the set of arrows \mathscr{G}_1 . A groupoid $(\mathscr{G}_0, \mathscr{G}_1)$ always comes with a (understood) family of maps

$$\mathcal{G}_0 \underbrace{\xleftarrow{\sigma}}_{\overbrace{\longleftarrow} \tau}^{\circ} \underbrace{\overset{\circ}{\underset{\longleftarrow} \varphi_1}}_{\mathcal{G}_1} \underbrace{\overset{\circ}{\underset{\longleftarrow} \varphi_1}}_{\bullet} \mathcal{G}_1 \times_{\mathcal{G}_0} \mathcal{G}_1$$

satisfying the expected, reasonable, compatibility conditions. For the sake of simplicity, one often denotes a composition $\bullet(f,g)$ by simple juxtaposition fg. A subgroupoid of a groupoid \mathscr{G} is a subcategory which is also a groupoid.

For a given groupoid $\mathscr{G} = (\mathscr{G}_0, \mathscr{G}_1)$, the associated *isotropy groupoid* (also called *inner subgroupoid* in [27, Chapter I, Definition 2.4]) is the subgroupoid $\mathscr{G}^{(i)} := (\mathscr{G}_0, \bigcup_{x \in \mathscr{G}_0} \mathscr{G}_x)$, where \mathscr{G}_x is the *isotropy group* of $x \in \mathscr{G}_0$, that is to say:

$$\mathscr{G}_x := \{g \in \mathscr{G}_1 \mid \sigma(g) = x = \tau(g)\}.$$

In the isotropy groupoid, the source and the target coincide and we denote them simply by $o: \mathscr{G}^{(i)} \to \mathscr{G}_0, g \mapsto \sigma(g) = \tau(g)$. Moreover, there is a canonical morphism of groupoids $\mathscr{G}^{(i)} \to \mathscr{G}$ (the inclusion).

3.1.2. *Groupoid actions and normal subgroupoids*. Recall that a *left* \mathscr{G} *-action* of a groupoid \mathscr{G} on a set N consists of two maps $\rho: N \to \mathscr{G}_0$ and $\mu: \mathscr{G}_1 \,_{\sigma} \times_{\rho} N \to N$, $(g, n) \mapsto gn$, satisfying

$$\rho(gn) = \tau(g), \qquad e_{\rho(n)}n = n, \qquad g'(gn) = (g'g)n,$$

for all $g, g' \in \mathscr{G}_1$ and $n \in N$ (see [27, Definition 4.1] for the topological analogue and [28, Definition 1.6.1] for the differential one). Given a left \mathscr{G} -action on N, one can consider the *left translation groupoid* $\mathscr{G} \ltimes N$ with $\mathscr{G}_{1\sigma} \times_{\rho} N$ as set of arrows and N as set of objects. This is the so-called *semi-direct product groupoid*. The source and the target of this groupoid are given by

$$\sigma, \tau: \mathscr{G}_{1\sigma} \times_{o} N \to N, \qquad \sigma(g, n) = n, \qquad \tau(g, n) = gn.$$

The identity of $n \in N$ is $e_n = (e_{\rho(n)}, n)$. The composition is given by

$$(g, n)(g', n') = (gg', n')$$
 whenever $g'n' = n$.

Obviously the pair (pr_1, ρ) : $(\mathscr{G}_1 \,_{\sigma} \times_{\rho} N, N) \to (\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_0)$ defines a morphism of groupoids.

Example 3.1 (Action groupoid). Any group *G* can be considered as a groupoid by taking $\mathscr{G}_1 = G$ and $\mathscr{G}_0 = \{*\}$ (the singleton). If *X* is a set with an action $G \times X \to X$ of *G*, then one can define the so-called *action groupoid*. It is constructed over $\mathscr{G}_1 \coloneqq G \times X$ and $\mathscr{G}_0 \coloneqq X$. Source and target are provided by $s(g, x) \coloneqq x$ and $t(g, x) \coloneqq g \cdot x$ for all $x \in X$ and $g \in G$. The identity map sends *x* to (e, x), where *e* is the neutral element of *G*. The composition law is given by $(h, y) \bullet (g, x) \coloneqq (hg, x)$ whenever $y = g \cdot x$, and the inverse is defined by $(g, x)^{-1} \coloneqq (g^{-1}, g \cdot x)$. Clearly, the pair of maps $(pr_1, *) \colon (\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_0) \to (G, \{*\})$ defines a morphism of groupoids.

As for groups, conjugation in \mathscr{G} can be seen as an action of \mathscr{G} on the underlying set of arrow of its isotropy groupoid $\mathscr{G}^{(i)}$. In detail, define the map Ad: $\mathscr{G}_1 \,_{\sigma} \times_{\sigma} \mathscr{G}_1^{(i)} \to \mathscr{G}_1^{(i)}$ acting as Ad $(g, f) = gfg^{-1}$. One can show that this defines an action, called the *adjoint action*, so that $\mathscr{G}_1^{(i)}$ becomes a left \mathscr{G} -set.

A normal subgroupoid of \mathscr{G} is a subgroupoid $\mathscr{N} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}$ such that (NG0) $\mathscr{N}_0 = \mathscr{G}_0$ (i.e., \mathscr{N} is wide in the sense of [27, Chapter I, Definition 2.4]); (NG1) $\mathscr{N}_1(x, y) = \emptyset$, for all $x \neq y$ in \mathscr{N}_0 (that is, \mathscr{N} is a subgroupoid of $\mathscr{G}^{(i)}$); (NG2) for every $g \in \mathscr{G}_1$, we have

$$\mathrm{Ad}(g)\big(\mathscr{N}_1(\sigma(g),\sigma(g))\big)\subseteq \mathscr{N}_1(\tau(g),\tau(g))$$

as subgroups of $\mathscr{G}_1(\tau(g), \tau(g))$, where $\operatorname{Ad}(g)(f) = \operatorname{Ad}(g, f)$ for all f with $\sigma(f) = \tau(f) = \sigma(g)$.

Equivalently, a subgroupoid $\mathcal{N} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}$ is normal (in the above sense) if and only if \mathcal{N} is a subgroupoid of $\mathcal{G}^{(i)}$,

$$g\mathcal{N}g^{-1} \coloneqq \left\{ ghg^{-1} \mid h \in \mathcal{N}_1(\sigma(g), \sigma(g)) \right\}$$

is non empty and $g \mathcal{N} g^{-1} \subseteq \mathcal{N}$ for all $g \in \mathcal{G}_1$ (see [29, Lemma 3.1]). In particular, we denote again by $o: \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{N}_0, n \mapsto \sigma(n) = \tau(n)$, the common source and target of a normal subgroupoid.

Remark 3.2. Condition (NG1), which explicitly appears in [5, §1] and [28, Definition 2.2.1], does not appear in [27, Chapter I, Definition 2.5] or [29, §3]. However, as observed in [27, page 8],

whether or not a subgroupoid is normal depends only on those of its elements which lie in its isotropy groupoid.

The fact that normal subgroups can be characterized as the invariant subgroups under the adjoint action can be extended to the groupoids context, as the following lemma states.

Lemma 3.3. Let \mathscr{G} be a groupoid and $\mathscr{N} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}$ a subcategory with $\mathscr{N}_0 = \mathscr{G}_0$. Then \mathscr{N} is a normal subgroupoid if and only if \mathscr{N}_1 is a \mathscr{G} -equivariant subset of $\mathscr{G}_1^{(i)}$.

Proof. Straightforward.

3.1.3. *The orbit space*. Let \mathscr{G} be a groupoid and N be a left \mathscr{G} -set. For $n \in N$ one defines the orbit of n under \mathscr{G} to be

$$\mathscr{G}n \coloneqq \left\{ gn \in N \mid g \in \sigma^{-1}(\rho(n)) \right\}$$

(see, e.g., [27, Definition 4.1]). This induces an equivalence relation on N given by

$$n \sim n' \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \exists g \in \sigma^{-1}(\rho(n)) \text{ such that } n' = gn \quad \Big(\Leftrightarrow \quad \mathscr{G}n = \mathscr{G}n' \Big).$$

The quotient space with respect to this relation, called the *orbit space* of *N* with respect to the action of \mathscr{G} , is denoted by N/\mathscr{G} and its elements are the orbits $\mathscr{G}n$ for $n \in N$. See, for instance, [21, Definition 1.67]. In particular, given a groupoid \mathscr{G} one can consider the orbit equivalence relation on \mathscr{G}_0 with respect to the action of \mathscr{G} given by:

$$\mathscr{G}_{1\sigma} \times_{\mathrm{Id}} \mathscr{G}_0 \to \mathscr{G}_0, \qquad (g, x) \mapsto \tau(g).$$

In this case, $x \sim y$ if and only if there exists a $g \in \mathcal{G}_1$ such that $\sigma(g) = x$ and $\tau(g) = y$. The orbit of $x \in \mathcal{G}_0$ is

$$\mathscr{G}x = \tau(\sigma^{-1}(x)).$$

The set of orbits, called the *orbit space*, of \mathscr{G} is the quotient set \mathscr{G}_0/\sim , which is often denoted by $\mathscr{G}_0/\mathscr{G}$. For further details, we refer the reader to [21, §1.2].

Remark 3.4. For a left \mathscr{G} -set N, the orbit space N/\mathscr{G} of N with respect to the action of \mathscr{G} can also be described as the orbit space of the left translation groupoid $\mathscr{G} \ltimes N$. In fact, for $p \in N$ we have

$$\mathcal{G}p = \tau(\sigma^{-1}(p)) = \tau(\{(g, n) \in \mathcal{G}_{1\sigma} \times_{\rho} N \mid p = n\})$$
$$= \tau(\{(g, p) \in \mathcal{G}_{1} \times N \mid \rho(p) = \sigma(g)\}) = \{gp \mid g \in \sigma^{-1}(\rho(n))\}$$

Now we will use this notion to describe the quotient groupoid by a normal subgroupoid as in the classical case of groups. Let us consider a normal subgroupoid $\mathcal{N} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}$. It is clear that (\mathcal{G}_1, τ) is a left \mathcal{N} -set via the left action

$$\mathscr{N}_{0} \times_{\tau} \mathscr{G}_{1} \to \mathscr{G}_{1}, \qquad (g, f) \mapsto gf.$$
 (36)

We denote by $\mathscr{G}_1/\mathscr{N}$ the orbit space of this action (or, equivalently, the orbit space of the associated left translation groupoid $\mathscr{N} \ltimes \mathscr{G}_1$) and call it the *quotient groupoid* (see [27, page 9-10]). As a matter of description, the equivalence class of a given arrow $g \in \mathscr{G}_1$ is a "flower with stalk at g":



Two arrows are equivalent if they "support the same flower". The action (36) is in fact a left one. There is also a right \mathcal{N} -action on (\mathcal{G}_1, σ) , which leads to the groupoid $\mathcal{G}_1 \rtimes \mathcal{N}$ and, in principle, to another orbit space $\mathcal{G}_1/\mathcal{N}$. It is easy to verify that the two orbit spaces coincide, since \mathcal{N} is normal. The following result is expected (see also [27, page 9-10]).

Lemma 3.5 ([2, Proposition 2.16]). Let $\mathcal{N} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}$ be a normal subgroupoid. Then $\mathcal{G}/\mathcal{N} := (\mathcal{G}_1/\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{G}_0)$ have a structure of groupoid such that there is a chain of morphisms

$$\mathcal{N} \longrightarrow \mathscr{G} \xrightarrow{\varpi} \mathscr{G} / \mathcal{N}.$$

Furthermore, any morphism $\mathscr{G} \to \mathscr{H}$ whose kernel contains \mathscr{N} factors through ϖ .

3.2. **Commutative Hopf algebroids.** In view of the easier expression of commutative Hopf algebroids with respect to general bialgebroids and Hopf algebroids, we begin by recalling explicitly their definition, both for the convenience of the reader and for future reference.

As a matter of notation, if *A* and *R* are commutative \Bbbk -algebras, then we will write A(R) for $CAlg_{\Bbbk}(A, R)$.

3.2.1. Commutative Hopf algebroids and Hopf ideals.

Definition 3.6. A *commutative Hopf algebroid* is a cogroupoid object in the category $CAlg_{k}$ of commutative algebras (see e.g. [31]). Thus, a commutative Hopf algebroid consists of a pair of commutative k-algebras (A, H) together with a diagram of algebra maps

$$A \xrightarrow{s} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\delta} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}$$

(where the A-bimodule structure on \mathcal{H} used to perform the tensor product is ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t}$) such that

- (CH1) The datum $(\mathcal{H}, \Delta, \varepsilon)$ is an A-coring structure on ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t}$. At the level of groupoids, this encodes a unitary and associative composition law between arrows.
- (CH2) The antipode S satisfies $S \circ s = t$, $S \circ t = s$ and $S^2 = Id_{\mathcal{H}}$, which encode the fact that the inverse of an arrow interchanges source and target and that the inverse of the inverse is the original arrow.
- (CH3) The antipode also satisfies $\sum S(u_1)u_2 = (t \circ \varepsilon)(u)$ and $\sum u_1S(u_2) = (s \circ \varepsilon)(u)$, which encode the fact that the composition of a morphism with its inverse on either side gives an identity morphism.

In particular, the inverse of the Hopf-Galois map

$$\beta\colon \mathcal{H}_t\otimes_A {}_t\mathcal{H}\to \mathcal{H}_t\otimes_A {}_s\mathcal{H}, \qquad u\otimes_A v\mapsto \sum u_1\otimes_A u_2v,$$

is provided by

$$\beta^{-1}: \mathcal{H}_t \otimes_A {}_s \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_t \otimes_A {}_t \mathcal{H}, \qquad u \otimes_A v \mapsto \sum u_1 \otimes_A \mathcal{S}(u_2)v.$$

Thus, explicitly,

$$\gamma := \left(\mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\Delta} \mathcal{H}_t \otimes_A {}_s \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H} \otimes_A S} \mathcal{H}_t \otimes_A {}_t \mathcal{H} \right), \qquad \gamma(u) = \sum u_1 \otimes_A \mathcal{S}(u_2).$$
(37)

A *morphism* of commutative Hopf algebroids $\phi: (A, \mathcal{H}) \to (B, \mathcal{K})$ is a pair of algebra maps $(\phi_0: A \to B, \phi_1: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K})$ such that

$$\begin{split} \phi_1 \circ s_{\mathcal{H}} &= s_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_0, \qquad \phi_1 \circ t_{\mathcal{H}} = t_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_0, \qquad \varepsilon_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_1 = \phi_0 \circ \varepsilon_{\mathcal{H}}, \\ \Delta_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_1 &= \chi \circ (\phi_1 \otimes_A \phi_1) \circ \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}, \qquad \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_1 = \phi_1 \circ \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{H}}, \end{split}$$

where $\chi : \mathcal{K} \otimes_A \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{K} \otimes_B \mathcal{K}$ is the obvious projection induced by ϕ_0 , that is $\chi (k \otimes_A k') = k \otimes_B k'$. If A = B and $\phi_0 = \mathrm{Id}_A$, then we say that $\phi_1 : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}$ is a morphism of Hopf algebroids over A.

Remark 3.7. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be commutative Hopf algebroid such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is flat as an *A*-module (i.e. the extension $s: A \to \mathcal{H}$ is flat). In this case $t: A \to \mathcal{H}$ is also flat due to the isomorphism given by the antipode. Therefore both extension *s* and *t* are faithfully flat since both are (left) split morphisms of modules over the base algebra.

Similarly to how commutative Hopf algebras over a field k are the same thing as affine k-group schemes (that is, representable presheaves of groups on $Aff_k = CAlg_k^{op}$, the opposite of the category of commutative k-algebras), commutative Hopf algebroids are the same thing as affine groupoid schemes (that is, representable presheaves of groupoids on Aff_k). Precisely, given a commutative Hopf algebroid (A, H) and a commutative k-algebra R, we have a groupoid $A(R) \underbrace{\leftarrow \sigma}_{\leftarrow \tau} \mathcal{H}(R)$ by reversing the structures of (A, \mathcal{H}). We will often adopt this point of view and we will denote by $\mathscr{G}_{(A,\mathcal{H})} = (\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_H)$ the groupoid scheme defined by (A, \mathcal{H}), that is to say,

$$\mathscr{G}_A(R) = A(R) = \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(A, R)$$
 and $\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R) = \mathcal{H}(R) = \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, R),$

in order to stress the groupoid structure on the pair $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_H(R))$. Observe that, under this perspective,

$$(\psi \bullet \varphi)(h) = \sum \varphi(h_1)\psi(h_2)$$
(38)

for all $(\psi, \varphi) \in \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)_{s^*} \times_{t^*} \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R), h \in \mathcal{H} \text{ and } R \text{ in CAlg}_{\Bbbk}.$

Remark 3.8. In particular, $(\mathscr{G}_A(\Bbbk), \mathscr{G}_H(\Bbbk))$ will be called an *affine* \Bbbk -groupoid and when A, \mathcal{H} are finitely generated and reduced, then it will be called an *affine algebraic* \Bbbk -groupoid. Suppose that \Bbbk is algebraically closed. Denote by Aff₁ : CAlg_k \rightarrow Set the affine scheme represented by the polynomial algebra $\Bbbk[T]$ and by Var_k the category of affine \Bbbk -varieties (i.e., the category whose objects are CAlg_k(R, \Bbbk) for R a finitely generated and reduced commutative algebra and whose morphisms are given by precomposition by morphisms in CAlg_k). Then

$$(A,\mathcal{H})\mapsto (\mathscr{G}_{A}(\Bbbk),\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk)) \quad \text{and} \quad (\mathscr{G}_{A}(\Bbbk),\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk))\mapsto \left(\operatorname{Var}_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{G}_{A}(\Bbbk),\operatorname{Aff}_{1}(\Bbbk)),\operatorname{Var}_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk),\operatorname{Aff}_{1}(\Bbbk))\right)$$

give an anti-equivalence between the category of affine (i.e., finitely generated, commutative, reduced) Hopf algebroids and the category of affine algebraic k-groupoids, where

$$\operatorname{Var}_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{G}_{A}(\Bbbk),\operatorname{Aff}_{1}(\Bbbk)) = \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\Bbbk[T],A).$$

32 LAIACHI EL KAOUTIT, ARYAN GHOBADI, PAOLO SARACCO, AND JOOST VERCRUYSSE

Let $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_H)$ be an affine groupoid scheme and let $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ be an ideal. Denote by $\pi : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$ the canonical projection and by $\pi^* : \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}/I, -) \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, -)$ the natural transformation given by precomposition by π . We say that $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I})$ is a *wide closed groupoid subscheme* of $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_H)$ (or, simply, a *wide closed subgroupoid* or *wide affine subgroupoid* of $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_H)$) if $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I})$ is a groupoid itself and $\pi^* : \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}$ induces a morphism of groupoids $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}) \to$ $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$. Since the structure maps of the commutative Hopf algebroid \mathcal{H}/I should be induced by the structure maps of \mathcal{H} via π , $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I})$ is a wide subgroupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ if and only if $(A, \mathcal{H}/I)$ is a commutative Hopf algebroid and $\pi : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$ is a morphism of commutative Hopf algebroids, if and only if the ideal I satisfies

(HI1) $\varepsilon(I) = 0;$

- (HI2) $\Delta(I) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{H} \otimes_A I + I \otimes_A \mathcal{H});$
- (HI3) $S(I) \subseteq I$ (and so S(I) = I).

An ideal $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ satisfying (HI1) and (HI2) will be called a *wide bi-ideal* of (A, \mathcal{H}) . When I satisfies (HI3) as well, it will be called a *wide Hopf ideal* of (A, \mathcal{H}) .

Remark 3.9. The terminology "wide" introduced above is justified by the fact that if $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is a wide Hopf ideal, then $(\mathscr{G}_A(\Bbbk), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(\Bbbk))$ is a wide subgroupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A(\Bbbk), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk))$ in the sense of [27, Chapter I, Definition 2.4], that is to say, the two groupoids share the same set of objects. A more general notion of ideal for a Hopf algebroid would involve considering at the same time an ideal I_A in A and an ideal $I_{\mathcal{H}}$ in \mathcal{H} such that the canonical projections $(\pi_A : A \to A/I_A, \pi_{\mathcal{H}} : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I_{\mathcal{H}})$ form a morphism of Hopf algebroids, but we do not discuss this case herein. See Section 3.2 of [19] for additional details.

In what follows we are mainly concerned with wide subgroupoids and wide ideals, hence we will often omit the adjective "wide". For the sake of completeness, the following proposition can be proved by finding inspiration from the proof of Proposition 2.3.

Proposition 3.10. Let \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{K} be bialgebroids (resp., Hopf algebroids) over the same base algebra A and let $\phi : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}$ be a morphism of bialgebroids (resp., Hopf algebroids) over A. If the two-sided ideal $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is a bi-ideal (resp., Hopf ideal) of \mathcal{H} and if we denote by $\pi : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$ the canonical projection, then

- $(A, \mathcal{H}/I)$ has a unique bialgebroid (resp., Hopf algebroid) structure such that π becomes a morphism of bialgebroids (resp., Hopf algebroids) over A;
- $\ker(\phi)$ is a bi-ideal (resp., Hopf ideal) of (A, \mathcal{H}) ;
- for any bi-ideal (resp., Hopf ideal) $I \subseteq \text{ker}(\phi)$ there exists a unique morphism of bialgebroids (resp., Hopf algebroids) over $A, \tilde{\phi} : \mathcal{H}/I \to \mathcal{K}$, such that $\tilde{\phi} \circ \pi = \phi$.

Now, let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid and consider the ideal $\langle s - t \rangle$ generated by the vector subspace $\{s(a) - t(a) \mid a \in A\}$. Since $s(a) - t(a) \in \mathcal{P}_A(\mathcal{H})$ (the space of primitive elements) for every $a \in A$, $\langle s - t \rangle$ is a Hopf ideal in \mathcal{H} . Its associated quotient Hopf algebroid will be denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{(i)} := \mathcal{H}/\langle s - t \rangle$. For $(A, \mathcal{H}_{(i)})$, the source equals the target. That is, it is a commutative Hopf *A*-algebra. Denote by $\eta: A \to \mathcal{H}_{(i)}$ the unit map (that is, $\eta(a) = s(a) + \langle s - t \rangle = t(a) + \langle s - t \rangle$ for all $a \in A$) and by $\varpi_{(i)}: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{(i)}$ the canonical projection sending *x* to $\overline{x} = x + \langle s - t \rangle$.

Lemma 3.11. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid. Then the presheaf of groupoids $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}^{(i)})$ obtained by considering the isotropy groupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R))$ for every R in $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}$ is represented by the Hopf A-algebra $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}$. In other words, we have an isomorphism

$$\left(A(R),\mathcal{H}(R)^{(i)}\right)\cong\left(A(R),\mathcal{H}_{(i)}(R)\right),$$

natural in R, between the isotropy groupoid of $(\mathcal{G}_A, \mathcal{G}_H)$ and the groupoid $(\mathcal{G}_A, \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}_0})$.

Proof. Let *R* be a commutative \Bbbk -algebra. The fact that the correspondence

$$\mathcal{H}_{(i)}(R) = \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}\left(\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\langle s-t \rangle}, R\right) \xrightarrow{\varpi_{(i)^*}} \mathcal{H}(R)^{(i)} = \{\varphi \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, R) \mid \varphi \circ s = \varphi \circ t\}$$
$$\phi \longmapsto \phi \circ \varpi_{(i)},$$

is bijective is almost tautological and it is a morphism of groupoids because it is induced by a morphism of commutative Hopf algebroids. The naturality in R follows from the associativity of the composition.

Even for Hopf algebroids over noncommutative base algebras, $\mathcal{H}/\langle s - t \rangle$ forms a natural Hopf algebroid structure and is called the *isotropy quotient* of \mathcal{H} [19]. In particular, Lemma 3.11 was previously discussed in Example 3.13 of [19].

3.2.2. Comodule algebras and normal Hopf ideals. With an eye to the definition of normal Hopf ideals, we give the analogue of the adjoint action for groupoids (see §3.1.2) in the Hopf algebroid context. To this aim, recall first that a (commutative) *right* \mathcal{H} -comodule algebra for a commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) is a (commutative) monoid in the symmetric monoidal category $\mathsf{Comod}^{\mathcal{H}}$ (see 2.2). That is, a (commutative) A-algebra \mathcal{R} (with structure map $r: A \to \mathcal{R}$) which is also a right \mathcal{H} -comodule with coaction $\delta_{\mathcal{R}}: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}, x \mapsto \sum x_0 \otimes_A x_1$, satisfying for all $x, y \in \mathcal{R}$

$$\delta_{\mathcal{R}}(xy) = \sum x_0 y_0 \otimes_A x_1 y_1 \quad \text{and} \quad \delta_{\mathcal{R}}(1_{\mathcal{R}}) = 1_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes_A 1_{\mathcal{H}}.$$
(39)

In others words, the coaction $\delta_{\mathcal{R}}$ is an A-algebra map, where $\mathcal{R} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ is seen as an A-algebra via $A \to \mathcal{R} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}, a \mapsto 1_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes_A t(a)$. A morphism of right \mathcal{H} -comodule algebras is an A-algebra map which is also a right \mathcal{H} -comodule morphism. Left \mathcal{H} -comodule algebras are analogously defined. Henceforth, all comodule algebras will be commutative comodule algebras. A trivial example of a comodule algebra is the base algebra A of a Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) itself.

Proposition 3.12. Let $\mathscr{G}_{(A,\mathcal{H})} = (\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ be an affine groupoid scheme and let $\mathscr{N}_{\mathscr{B}} = \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{B}, -)$ be an affine scheme, for \mathscr{B} in $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}$. Then $\mathscr{N}_{\mathscr{B}}(R)$ is a left $\mathscr{G}_{(A,\mathcal{H})}(R)$ -set (naturally in R in $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}$) if and only if \mathscr{B} is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule algebra.

Proof. If $(\mathcal{B}, b : A \to \mathcal{B})$ is an *A*-algebra with a right \mathcal{H} -comodule algebra structure given by a coaction $\delta_{\mathcal{B}}$, then $\rho_R \coloneqq b^* \colon \text{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B}, R) \to \text{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(A, R)$ and

$$\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)_{\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}} \times_{\rho_{\mathbb{R}}} \mathscr{N}_{\mathcal{B}}(R) \cong \mathrm{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}, R) \xrightarrow{o_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathrm{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B}, R) = \mathscr{N}_{\mathcal{B}}(R)$$

turn $\mathscr{N}_{\mathscr{B}}(R)$ into a left $\mathscr{G}_{(A,\mathcal{H})}(R)$ -set. Conversely, if $(\mathscr{N}_{\mathscr{B}}(R), \rho_R, \mu_R)$ is a left $\mathscr{G}_{(A,\mathcal{H})}(R)$ -set natural in $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}$, then $b \coloneqq \rho_{\mathscr{B}}(\operatorname{Id}_{\mathscr{B}})$ and $\delta_{\mathscr{B}} \coloneqq \mu_{\mathscr{B}_{\otimes_A}\mathscr{H}}(\operatorname{Id}_{\mathscr{B}_{\otimes_A}\mathscr{H}})$ make of \mathscr{B} a right \mathscr{H} -comodule algebra. \Box

In the setting of Proposition 3.12, we say that $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{B}}$ is an *affine* (*left*) $\mathcal{G}_{(A,\mathcal{H})}$ -set. Note that, for a right \mathcal{H} -comodule algebra (\mathcal{R} , r), the \Bbbk -vector subspace

$$\mathcal{R}^{\mathrm{co}\mathcal{H}} = \{ x \in \mathcal{R} \mid \delta_{\mathcal{R}}(x) = x \otimes_{A} 1_{\mathcal{H}} \}$$

of \mathcal{H} -coinvariant elements is a k-subalgebra of \mathcal{R} (this follows easily from (39)).

Remark 3.13. In general, $\mathcal{R}^{co\mathcal{H}}$ does not necessarily contain the image r(A) of A, unless one makes additional assumptions. For instance, if the source and the target of \mathcal{H} are equal, then it does.

Dually to the construction of the left translation groupoid, if (\mathcal{R}, r) is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule algebra, then $(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{R} \otimes_A \mathcal{H})$ admits a natural structure of commutative Hopf algebroid such that $(r, 1_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes_A -): (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}) \to (\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{R} \otimes_A \mathcal{H})$ is a morphism of Hopf algebroids. Namely,

$$s: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}, \quad x \mapsto x \otimes_{A} 1_{\mathcal{H}}, \qquad t: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}, \quad x \mapsto \sum x_{0} \otimes_{A} x_{1}$$

$$\Delta: \mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \to (\mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} (\mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}), \qquad (x \otimes_{A} h) \mapsto \sum (x \otimes_{A} h_{1}) \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} (1_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes_{A} h_{2})$$

$$\varepsilon: \mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{R}, \ x \otimes_{A} h \mapsto xr(\varepsilon(h)), \qquad \text{and}$$

$$\mathcal{S}: \mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}, \qquad x \otimes_{A} h \mapsto \sum x_{0} \otimes_{A} x_{1} \mathcal{S}(h)$$

This is called the *left translation Hopf algebroid* of (A, \mathcal{H}) along *r*. Of course, if ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is flat over *A*, then $\mathcal{R} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}$ is flat over \mathcal{R} (see [14, Lemma 3.4] for more properties).

Now, dually to the case of groupoids, we introduce the *adjoint coaction*.

Proposition 3.14. The pair $(\mathcal{H}_{(i)}, \eta)$ is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule algebra with coaction defined by:

$$\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}} \colon \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \to \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}, \qquad \overline{h} \mapsto \sum \overline{h_2} \otimes_A \mathcal{S}(h_1) h_3.$$
(40)

In particular, $(\mathcal{H}_{(i)}, \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H})$ is a commutative Hopf algebroid (it is the left translation Hopf algebroid along η).

Proof. The fact that $\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}$ is well-defined can be deduced by using the following map:

$$\mathcal{H}_t \otimes_A {}_s\mathcal{H}_t \to \mathcal{H}_{(i)_n} \otimes_A {}_s\mathcal{H}_s, \qquad u \otimes_A v \mapsto \overline{v} \otimes_A \mathcal{S}(u),$$

which is well-defined and right *A*-linear. The map $\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}$ is clearly right *A*-linear, that is, $\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}(\overline{h}\eta(a)) = \delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}(\overline{h})t(a)$ for every $a \in A$ and $\overline{h} \in \mathcal{H}_{(i)}$. Aside from the coaction being well-defined, the rest of the proof showing the coassosiativity and counital property of δ and the comodule algebra structure on $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}$ follow exactly as in the case of the right adjoint coaction on ordinary Hopf algebras, by simply using Sweedler's notation. Therefore, $(\mathcal{H}_{(i)}, \delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}})$ is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule. Since $\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}$ is manifestly multiplicative and unital, $(\mathcal{H}_{(i)}, \eta)$ is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule algebra.

Let *I* be an ideal of \mathcal{H} which contains $\langle s - t \rangle$. We denote by $I_{(i)}$ its image in $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}$: $I_{(i)} := I/\langle s - t \rangle$.

Definition 3.15. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid. A Hopf ideal *I* of \mathcal{H} is said to be *normal* if it satisfies the following conditions:

(NI1) $\langle s - t \rangle \subseteq I$; (NI2) for every $\overline{x} \in I_{(i)}$, we have $\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}(\overline{x}) = \sum \overline{x_2} \otimes_A \mathcal{S}(x_1) x_3 \in \text{Im}(I_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H})$.

Remark 3.16. If ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat, then (NI2) is equivalent to requiring that the image of $I_{(i)}$ is a right \mathcal{H} -subcomodule of $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}$ with respect to the coaction (40). Namely, that there exists $\delta_{I_{(i)}} : I_{(i)} \to I_{(i)} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}$ such that the following diagram commutes

For commutative Hopf algebroids with source equal to target, that is, for Hopf algebras over a commutative algebra, one recovers the classical definition. Notice further that in this latter case the associated isotropy Hopf algebra coincides with the Hopf algebroid itself.

Lemma 3.17. Let I be a normal Hopf ideal in (A, \mathcal{H}) . Then $I_{(i)}$ is a normal Hopf ideal in $(A, \mathcal{H}_{(i)})$.

Proof. Straightforward.

The following proposition is the Hopf algebroid analogue of Lemma 3.3.

Proposition 3.18. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid and let $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ be a Hopf ideal. Then I is normal if and only if $\langle s - t \rangle \subseteq I$ and $\mathcal{H}/I \cong \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$ is a quotient \mathcal{H} -comodule of $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}$ with respect to the coaction (40).

Proof. The statement follows from the fact that *I* is normal if and only if the left-hand side square in the following diagram with exact rows commutes

$$0 \longrightarrow I_{(i)} \xrightarrow{j} \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \xrightarrow{\pi_{(i)}} \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow^{\delta_{I_{(i)}}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}} \xrightarrow{I_{(i)}} \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \longrightarrow 0$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Im}(I_{(i)} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}) \xrightarrow{\subseteq} \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\pi_{(i)} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow 0,$$

if and only if the right-hand side square commutes, because $\text{Im}(I_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) = \text{ker}(\pi_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H})$. \Box

Let $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I})$ be an affine subgroupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ (i.e., $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is a Hopf ideal). We say that $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I})$ is a *normal affine subgroupoid* of $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ if and only if $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R))$ is a normal subgroupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R))$ in the sense of §3.1.2, for all R in CAlg_k. The following proposition shows that normal Hopf ideals are in bijective correspondence with normal affine subgroupoids.

Proposition 3.19. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid. There is a one-to-one correspondence between normal Hopf ideals of (A, \mathcal{H}) and normal affine subgroupoids of $(\mathcal{G}_A, \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$.

Proof. Let *I* be a normal Hopf ideal of \mathcal{H} . Then, in view of (NI1) and Lemma 3.17, $\mathcal{H}/I \cong \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$ is a commutative Hopf *A*-algebra with a surjective morphism of commutative Hopf algebroids $(\mathrm{Id}_A, \tilde{\pi}): (A, \mathcal{H}) \to (A, \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)})$, where $\tilde{\pi}: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$ is induced by $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$, up to the isomorphism above. We have then the affine subgroupoid $(\mathcal{G}_A, \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}_0}/I_{(i)})$ of $(\mathcal{G}_A, \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$. For *R* in CAlg_k,

consider $(\mathrm{Id}, \tilde{\pi}^*)$: $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}}(R)) \hookrightarrow (\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R))$. Condition (NG0) is always satisfied in our treatment. Condition (NG1) is satisfied because for every $\varphi \in \mathrm{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}, R)$, we have

$$\sigma(\varphi) = \varphi \circ (\tilde{\pi} \circ s) \stackrel{(NI1)}{=} \varphi \circ (\tilde{\pi} \circ t) = \tau(\varphi).$$

Concerning condition (NG2), for every $\psi \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, R)$ and for every $\varphi \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}, R)$ such that $\varphi \circ (\tilde{\pi} \circ s) = \psi \circ s = \varphi \circ (\tilde{\pi} \circ t)$ (i.e., source and target of φ coincide with the source of ψ), set $\varphi' := \psi \bullet \tilde{\pi}^*(\varphi) \bullet \psi^{-1} \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, R)$. Notice that

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi'(s(a) - t(a)) &= (\psi \bullet \tilde{\pi}^*(\varphi) \bullet \psi^{-1})(s(a) - t(a)) \stackrel{(38)}{=} \psi^{-1}(s(a))\varphi(\overline{1})\psi(1) - \psi^{-1}(1)\varphi(\overline{1})\psi(t(a)) \\ &= \psi(\mathcal{S}s(a))\varphi(\overline{1})\psi(1) - \psi(\mathcal{S}(1))\varphi(\overline{1})\psi(t(a)) = \psi(t(a))\varphi(\overline{1})\psi(1) - \psi(1)\varphi(\overline{1})\psi(t(a)) = 0 \end{aligned}$$

for all $a \in A$, whence there exists a unique $\tilde{\varphi}' \colon \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \to R$ such that $\tilde{\varphi}' \circ \varpi_{(i)} = \varphi'$. Now, for every $\overline{x} = \varpi_{(i)}(x) \in I_{(i)}$ we have that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\varphi}'(\overline{x}) &= (\psi \bullet \tilde{\pi}^*(\varphi) \bullet \psi^{-1})(x) \stackrel{(38)}{=} \sum \psi(\mathcal{S}(x_1))\varphi(\overline{x_2} + I_{(i)})\psi(x_3) \\ &= \sum \varphi(\overline{x_2} + I_{(i)})\psi(\mathcal{S}(x_1)x_3) = (\varphi \otimes_A \psi)(\pi_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \left(\sum \overline{x_2} \otimes_A \mathcal{S}(x_1)x_3\right) \stackrel{(NI2)}{=} 0, \end{split}$$

whence there exists a unique $\phi : \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)} \to R$ such that $\phi \circ \pi_{(i)} = \tilde{\varphi}'$. Summing up, $\psi \bullet \tilde{\pi}^*(\varphi) \bullet \psi^{-1} = \tilde{\pi}^*(\phi)$ for some $\phi \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}_0/I_0}(R)$ and so (NG2) is satisfied.

Conversely, take a normal affine subgroupoid $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I})$ of $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ induced by $\pi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$. By definition, I is a Hopf ideal of \mathcal{H} . Moreover, for any commutative \Bbbk -algebra R and for any $\varphi \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}/I, R)$ we have that $\varphi \circ (\pi \circ s) = \varphi \circ (\pi \circ t)$, because in $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R))$ the only arrows that we have are loops. By taking $R = \mathcal{H}/I$ and $\varphi = \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{H}/I}$, we get $\pi \circ t = \pi \circ s$, which shows that $\langle s - t \rangle \subseteq I$ and hence (NI1) is satisfied and $\mathcal{H}/I \cong \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$. We still need to check condition (NI2). For this, recall from Lemma 3.3 that $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I})$ is a normal affine subgroupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A, \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}})$ if and only if

commutes for every *R* in CAlg_k, if and only if there exists a right \mathcal{H} -comodule algebra structure $\delta_{\mathcal{H}/I}$ on \mathcal{H}/I such that

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{H}_{(i)} & \xrightarrow{\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}} & \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \frac{\mathcal{H}}{I} & \xrightarrow{\delta_{\mathcal{H}/I}} & \frac{\mathcal{H}}{I} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \end{array}$$

commutes (where $\tilde{\pi}_{(i)}$ is the composition $\mathcal{H}_{(i)} \xrightarrow{\pi_{(i)}} \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)} \cong \mathcal{H}/I$ with kernel $I_{(i)}$), if and only if $\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}(I_{(i)}) \subseteq \ker(\tilde{\pi}_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) = \operatorname{Im}(I_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}).$

Remark 3.20. The quotient $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}$ admits also a left \mathcal{H} -comodule structure, which is related to the right comodule structure above via the isomorphism between the category of left \mathcal{H} -comodules and the category of right \mathcal{H} -comodules provided by the antipode: if $(N, \delta: n \mapsto \sum n_0 \otimes_A n_1)$ is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule, then N with $\partial: N \to \mathcal{H} \otimes_A N, n \mapsto \sum \mathcal{S}(n_1) \otimes_A n_0$, is a left \mathcal{H} -comodule (recall that right \mathcal{H} -comodules are, in fact, symmetric A-bimodules with the right-left being defined from (19)). The left \mathcal{H} -coaction on $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}$ is then given by $\partial_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}: \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \to \mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}_{(i)}$ sending \overline{x} to $\sum x_1 \mathcal{S}(x_3) \otimes_A \overline{x_2}$. This corresponds to the right action by conjugation given at the groupoid level by $(f,g) \mapsto g^{-1} \bullet f \bullet g$. If ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is flat over A, then also the quotient $I_{(i)}$ of a normal Hopf ideal I admits both a left and a right \mathcal{H} -comodule structures as above.

3.2.3. *The space of invariants.* Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid and let $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ be a normal Hopf ideal. Denote by $\tilde{\pi} \colon \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$ the composition of the canonical projection $\pi \colon \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/I$ with the isomorphism $\mathcal{H}/I \cong \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$. Since this leads to a morphism of Hopf algebroids, we have an induced $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$ -comodule structure on \mathcal{H} as in §2, given by

$$\delta_{\mathcal{H}} \colon \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}}, \qquad h \mapsto \sum h_{1} \otimes_{A} \left(\overline{h_{2}} + I_{(i)}\right). \tag{41}$$

In this way (\mathcal{H}, s) becomes a right $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$ -comodule algebra. Let us denote its coinvariant subalgebra by

$$\mathcal{H}^{I} \coloneqq \left\{ h \in \mathcal{H} \mid \delta_{\mathcal{H}}(h) = h \otimes_{A} \left(\overline{1} + I_{(i)}\right) \right\}$$

for the sake of simplicity.

Remark 3.21. Notice that the coaction (41) corresponds to the action described in (36). Namely, denote by $\tilde{\eta}$ the composition of $A \xrightarrow{\eta} \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)} \cong \mathcal{H}/I$ and, for a given ring *R*, consider the normal subgroupoid $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R)$ of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)$. In this framework, the action (36) is given by

$$\mathscr{G}_{\frac{\mathcal{H}}{l}}(R)_{\tilde{\eta}^*} \times_{\mathfrak{t}^*} \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R) \to \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R), \qquad (g, f) \mapsto (g \circ \pi) \bullet f.$$

By using the natural isomorphism

$$\mathscr{G}_{\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}}(R)_{\tilde{\eta}^*} \times_{\mathfrak{t}^*} \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R) \cong \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}\left(\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}, R\right) \cong \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}\left(\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}}, R\right),$$

the action (36) corresponds exactly to the coaction (41).

Analogously, the left $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$ -coaction on \mathcal{H} , which corresponds to the right action of $\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R)$ on $\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)$ from the end of §3.1.3, is given by

$$\partial_{\mathcal{H}} \colon \mathcal{H} o rac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}, \qquad h \mapsto \sum \left(\overline{h_1} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_A h_2.$$

which provides a structure of left $\mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$ -comodule algebra on (\mathcal{H}, t) . Its coinvariant subalgebra is given by

$${}^{I}\mathcal{H} := \left\{ h \in \mathcal{H} \mid \partial_{\mathcal{H}}(h) = \left(\overline{1} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_{A} h \right\}.$$

$$(42)$$

The key properties of these subalgebras are collected in the forthcoming lemmata.

Lemma 3.22. Let I be a normal Hopf ideal of (A, \mathcal{H}) . Then, the subalgebras s(A) and t(A) are contained in both \mathcal{H}^1 and ${}^{1}\mathcal{H}$. Furthermore, the antipode S establishes an isomorphism of A-bimodules $S: \mathcal{H}^1 \to {}^{1}\mathcal{H}$.

Proof. We only show that $t(A) \subseteq \mathcal{H}^{I}$, since the other property is analogous. For every $a \in A$ we have

$$\delta_{\mathcal{H}}(t(a)) = 1 \otimes_A \left(\overline{t(a)} + I_{(i)}\right) = 1 \otimes_A \left(\overline{s(a)} + I_{(i)}\right) = t(a) \otimes_A \left(\overline{1} + I_{(i)}\right)$$

by (NI1), and hence $t(a) \in \mathcal{H}^{l}$. Concerning the second claim, if $h \in \mathcal{H}^{l}$ then

$$\partial_{\mathcal{H}}(\mathcal{S}(h)) = \sum_{A} \left(\overline{\mathcal{S}(h)_{1}} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_{A} \mathcal{S}(h)_{2} = \sum_{A} \left(\overline{\mathcal{S}(h_{2})} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_{A} \mathcal{S}(h_{1})$$

$$\stackrel{(HI3)}{=} \sum_{A} \overline{\mathcal{S}}\left(\overline{h_{2}} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_{A} \mathcal{S}(h_{1}) = \overline{\mathcal{S}}\left(\overline{1} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_{A} \mathcal{S}(h)$$

$$= \left(\overline{1} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_{A} \mathcal{S}(h),$$

whence $S(h) \in {}^{I}\mathcal{H}$. Similarly, one proves that if $h \in {}^{I}\mathcal{H}$, then $S(h) \in \mathcal{H}^{I}$.

Lemma 3.23. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid and let I a normal Hopf ideal in (A, \mathcal{H}) . Then $\mathcal{H}^{I} = {}^{I}\mathcal{H}$ as subalgebras of \mathcal{H} .

Proof. We find inspiration from [37, Lemma 4.4]. First of all, consider the A-bilinear morphism

$$\psi: \mathcal{H} \otimes \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \to \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \otimes_A {}_s\mathcal{H}, \qquad x \otimes (\overline{y} + I_{(i)}) \mapsto \sum (\overline{y_2} + I_{(i)}) \otimes_A x\mathcal{S}(y_1)y_3,$$

where the A-bilinearity is expressed by

$$\begin{split} \psi\Big(a\cdot\Big(x\otimes(\overline{y}+I_{(i)})\Big)\cdot b\Big) &= \psi\Big(s(a)x\otimes(\overline{y}+I_{(i)})\eta(b)\Big)\\ &= \sum \eta(a)(\overline{y_2}+I_{(i)})\otimes_A x\mathcal{S}(y_1)y_3t(b)\\ &= a\cdot\Big(\sum \big(\overline{y_2}+I_{(i)}\big)\otimes_A x\mathcal{S}(y_1)y_3\Big)\cdot b\\ &= a\cdot\psi\Big(x\otimes(\overline{y}+I_{(i)})\Big)\cdot b. \end{split}$$

for all $a, b \in A$, $x, y \in \mathcal{H}$. It satisfies

$$\psi\Big(xt(a)\otimes(\overline{y}+I_{(i)})\Big) = \sum_{i}(\overline{y_2}+I_{(i)})\otimes_A xt(a)\mathcal{S}(y_1)y_3 = \sum_{i}(\overline{y_2}+I_{(i)})\otimes_A x\mathcal{S}(s(a)y_1)y_3$$
$$=\psi\Big(x\otimes(\overline{s(a)y}+I_{(i)})\Big) =\psi\Big(x\otimes\eta(a)(\overline{y}+I_{(i)})\Big)$$

for all $a \in A$, $x, y \in \mathcal{H}$. Therefore, ψ factors uniquely through the tensor product over A, inducing an A-bilinear morphism

$$\widetilde{\psi}: {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t} \otimes_{A} \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \to \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \otimes_{A} {}_{s}\mathcal{H}_{t}, \qquad x \otimes_{A} (\overline{y} + I_{(i)}) \mapsto \sum (\overline{y_{2}} + I_{(i)}) \otimes_{A} x\mathcal{S}(y_{1})y_{3}.$$

Take an element $h \in \mathcal{H}^{I}$, so that $\sum h_{1} \otimes_{A} (\overline{h_{2}} + I_{(i)}) = h \otimes_{A} (\overline{1} + I_{(i)})$ in $\mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}_{(i)}/I_{(i)}$. By applying $\widetilde{\psi}$ to both sides of the latter identity, we get

$$\sum \left(\overline{h_3} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_A h_1 \mathcal{S}(h_2) h_4 = \left(\overline{1} + I_{(i)}\right) \otimes_A h \quad \text{in} \quad \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \otimes_A \mathcal{H},$$

that is to say, $\sum (\overline{h_1} + I_{(i)}) \otimes_A h_2 = (\overline{1} + I_{(i)}) \otimes_A h$ and hence $h \in {}^{I}\mathcal{H}$. The other inclusion is proved similarly by using the morphism

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \otimes_A {}_s \mathcal{H}_t \to {}_s \mathcal{H}_t \otimes_A \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}}, \qquad (\overline{x} + I_{(i)}) \otimes_A y \mapsto \sum x_1 \mathcal{S}(x_3) y \otimes_A (\overline{x_2} + I_{(i)}). \qquad \Box$$

As we have seen in Proposition 3.19, for every commutative k-algebra R we have that $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R))$ is a normal subgroupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R))$ and hence, by Lemma 3.5, we can consider the extension $\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R) \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R) \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)/\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R)$. As a matter of notation, set $\phi \colon \mathcal{H}^1 \to \mathcal{H}$ for the canonical inclusion and $\Phi_R \colon \text{CAlg}_k(\mathcal{H}, R) \to \text{CAlg}_k(\mathcal{H}^1, R)$ for its dual ϕ^* .

Lemma 3.24. *Let* (A, \mathcal{H}) *be a commutative Hopf algebroid and let* $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ *be a normal Hopf ideal. Then there is a canonical morphism*

$$\Psi_{R} \colon \frac{\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)}{\mathscr{G}_{\frac{\mathcal{H}}{l}}(R)} \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}^{l}, R), \qquad \mathscr{G}_{\frac{\mathcal{H}}{l}}(R) \bullet g \mapsto \Phi_{R}(g), \tag{43}$$

which is natural in $R \in CAlg_{k}$.

Proof. Consider Ψ_R as in the statement and observe that if $\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R) \bullet g = \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R) \bullet g'$, then there exists $f \in \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/I}(R)$ such that $(f \circ \pi) \bullet g = g'$. Therefore, for every $u \in \mathcal{H}^I$

$$\Phi_R(g')(u) = \Phi_R((f \circ \pi) \bullet g)(u) = \sum g(\phi(u)_1) f(\overline{\phi(u)_2} + I_{(i)}) = g(\phi(u)) = \Phi_R(g)(u),$$

since ϕ is just the inclusion. Thus Ψ_R is well-defined and it is clearly natural.

3.3. The correspondence for commutative Hopf algebroids. We fix a commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) which we assume to be flat as left *A*-module (that is, the extension $s: A \to \mathcal{H}$ is flat). In this case $t: A \to \mathcal{H}$ is also flat, thanks to the antipode, and both extension s and t are faithfully flat (because both are split monomorphisms of modules over the base algebra). Also, since *A* and \mathcal{H} are commutative algebras, then \mathcal{H}_t being *A*-flat is equivalent to ${}_t\mathcal{H}$ being *A*-flat.

Proposition 3.25. If (A, \mathcal{H}) is a commutative Hopf algebroid and ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat, then we have a well-defined inclusion-preserving bijective correspondence



Proof. Since all the algebras involved are commutative, it follows from [23, Corollary 5.4] that a \Bbbk -algebra morphism $B \to \mathcal{H}$ is pure as a morphism of *B*-modules if and only if the extension-of-scalars functor $\mathcal{H} \otimes_B -$ is comonadic. Thus, it is enough to show that the additional condition in Theorem 2.15 which involves the translation map γ , is always satisfied in this setting. Recall from (37) that γ is explicit given by ($\mathcal{H} \otimes_A S$) $\circ \Delta$. If $B \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is a right \mathcal{H} -coideal *A*-subalgebra via *t*,

then the left-hand side square of the following diagram is commutative



Since the right-hand side square is clearly commutative, we have that the condition $\gamma(B) \subseteq B \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ is satisfied. Therefore, the conclusion follows from Theorem 2.15.

Proposition 3.26. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat. Suppose that $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is a sub-Hopf algebroid, over the same base A, such that $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{K}}$ is pure. Then $\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^{+}$ is a normal Hopf ideal in \mathcal{H} such that \mathcal{H} is pure over $\mathcal{H}^{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^{+}}$.

Proof. Since it is clear that \mathcal{K} is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule A-subalgebra of \mathcal{H} via t, we already know from Proposition 3.25 that \mathcal{HK}^+ is a (two-sided) ideal of \mathcal{H} which satisfies (HI1) and (HI2), and that \mathcal{H} is pure over $\mathcal{H}^{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{HK}^+}$. Concerning (HI3), it is easily checked that

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{HK}^+)\subseteq\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{K}^+)\subseteq\mathcal{HK}^+$$

because \mathcal{K} is a sub-Hopf algebroid (whence $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{K}) \subseteq \mathcal{K}$). Therefore, $\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+$ is a Hopf ideal. In addition, since for every $a \in A$ we have that $s(a) - t(a) \in \mathcal{K}^+$, we also have that $\langle s - t \rangle \subseteq \mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+$, which is (NI1). To check that (NI2) also holds, let us begin by observing that $A \cong \mathcal{K}/\mathcal{K}^+$ has a (\mathcal{K}, A)-bimodule structure via the regular right *A*-action $x \cdot a = \varepsilon(x)a$ for all $a \in A$, $x \in \mathcal{K}$. Therefore,

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}}{\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+} \otimes_A {}_s\mathcal{H} \cong \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{K}} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} {}_{\varepsilon}A_A \otimes_A {}_{s}\mathcal{H} \cong \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{K}} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} {}_{s\varepsilon}\mathcal{H}$$

via $(x + \mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+) \otimes_A y \mapsto x \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} y$. Denote this latter isomorphism by $\varphi \colon \mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+ \otimes_A \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}s\varepsilon} \mathcal{H}$. In view of the flatness of \mathcal{H} over A, an element $\sum_i \overline{x_i} \otimes_A y_i$ in $\mathcal{H}_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ belongs to $(\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+)_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$ if and only if it belongs to the kernel of the canonical projection $\tilde{\pi}_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H} \colon \mathcal{H}_{(i)} \otimes_A \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+ \otimes_A \mathcal{H}$. If $\sum_i \overline{h_i x_i} \in (\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+)_{(i)}$, then

$$\varphi\left(\left(\tilde{\pi}_{(i)}\otimes_{A}\mathcal{H}\right)\left(\sum_{i}\overline{(h_{i}x_{i})_{2}}\otimes_{A}\mathcal{S}\left((h_{i}x_{i})_{1}\right)(h_{i}x_{i})_{3}\right)\right)$$

$$=\varphi\left(\sum_{i}\left((h_{i})_{2}(x_{i})_{2}+\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^{+}\right)\otimes_{A}\mathcal{S}\left((h_{i})_{1}\right)\mathcal{S}\left((x_{i})_{1}\right)(h_{i})_{3}(x_{i})_{3}\right)$$

$$=\sum_{i}\left((h_{i})_{2}(x_{i})_{2}\otimes_{\mathcal{K}}\mathcal{S}\left((h_{i})_{1}\right)\mathcal{S}\left((x_{i})_{1}\right)(h_{i})_{3}(x_{i})_{3}$$

$$=\sum_{i}\left((h_{i})_{2}\otimes_{\mathcal{K}}\mathcal{S}\varepsilon\left((x_{i})_{2}\right)\mathcal{S}\left((x_{i})_{1}\right)(x_{i})_{3}\mathcal{S}\left((h_{i})_{1}\right)(h_{i})_{3}$$

$$=\sum_{i}\left((h_{i})_{2}\otimes_{\mathcal{K}}\mathcal{I}\varepsilon(x_{i})\mathcal{S}\left((h_{i})_{1}\right)(h_{i})_{3}=0,$$

which entails that
$$\sum_{i} \overline{(h_{i}x_{i})_{2}} \otimes_{A} S((h_{i}x_{i})_{1})(h_{i}x_{i})_{3} \in (\mathcal{HK}^{+})_{(i)} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}$$
, as prescribed by (NI2).

Proposition 3.27. Let I be a normal Hopf ideal of a commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat and \mathcal{H} is pure over $\mathcal{H}^{co\frac{\mathcal{H}}{l}}$. Then the pair $\left(A, \mathcal{H}^{co\frac{\mathcal{H}}{l}}\right)$ is a sub-Hopf algebroid of (A, \mathcal{H}) .

Proof. Set $\mathcal{K} := \mathcal{H}^{co\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$, which in (42) we denoted by ${}^{t}\mathcal{H}$, for the sake of brevity. By Proposition 3.25 we already know that \mathcal{K} is a right \mathcal{H} -comodule subalgebra of \mathcal{H} via *t*. By Lemma 3.22 and Lemma 3.23, we also know that $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{H}^{t}$, that *s* takes values in \mathcal{K} , and that $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{K}) \subseteq \mathcal{K}$. Therefore, by adapting Proposition 2.4, \mathcal{K} is also a left \mathcal{H} -comodule subalgebra of \mathcal{H} via *s*.

Since \mathcal{H} is pure over \mathcal{K} and flat over A, \mathcal{K} is flat over A (see Corollary 1.3) and so

$$\mathcal{K} \otimes_A \mathcal{K} \subseteq (\mathcal{K} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{K}) \subseteq \mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}.$$

Hence, in view of the foregoing observations, we only need to check that $\Delta(\mathcal{K})$, which we know is contained in $(\mathcal{K} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{K})$, is contained in $\mathcal{K} \otimes_A \mathcal{K}$. To this aim, denote by $\iota: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ the canonical inclusion, which we know is pure as morphism of *A*-modules by Corollary 1.4. Now, in view of the fact that both \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{K} are flat over *A*, the columns of the following diagram are monomorphisms and the rows are equalizers

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{K} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{K} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{K} \otimes_{A^{l}}} \mathcal{K} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{K} \otimes_{A} \tilde{\pi} t \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{K} \otimes_{A} \frac{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}{I_{(i)}} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \\ \downarrow \otimes_{A} \mathcal{K} \xrightarrow{I \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{I \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{I \otimes_{A} \tilde{\pi} t \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}_{(i)} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{H} \otimes_{A} \mathcal{H} \otimes_$$

and since the diagram commutes sequentially, we can conclude that the left-hand square is a pullback square and hence that $\mathcal{K} \otimes_A \mathcal{K} = (\mathcal{K} \otimes_A \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \mathcal{K})$.

Theorem 3.28. If (A, \mathcal{H}) is a commutative Hopf algebroid and ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat, then we have a well-defined inclusion-preserving bijective correspondence



Proof. It follows from Proposition 3.25, in view of Proposition 3.26 and Proposition 3.27.

Recall that a Hopf algebroid \mathcal{H} for which the base algebra A is a separable-Frobenius algebra is exactly a weak Hopf algebra. As in the above correspondence theorems the base algebra is the same for all considered sub-Hopf algebroids, these sub-Hopf algebroids are also weak sub-Hopf algebras. Examples of weak Hopf algebras arise naturally from finite groupoids. As a reality check, we now reflect on what this bijection reduces to for a simple family of commutative Hopf algebroids coming from finite groupoids in an elementary way. In this finite setting, we recover the

fact that the bijection reduces to the correspondence between normal subgroupoids and quotient groupoids.

Example 3.29. Let \Bbbk be an algebraically closed field. Throughout this example we will assume that $\mathscr{G} = (\mathscr{G}_0, \mathscr{G}_1)$ is a *finite* groupoid, meaning \mathscr{G}_0 and \mathscr{G}_1 are both finite sets. In this case we can define the commutative Hopf algebroid $(\Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_0), \Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_1))$ of functions on the groupoid \mathscr{G} as follows. Let $A := \Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_0)$ denote the commutative algebra of functions on the set \mathscr{G}_0 which is spanned by elements of the form f_p corresponding to $p \in \mathscr{G}_0$ satisfying $f_p \cdot f_{p'} = \delta_{p,p'} f_p$, while $\mathcal{H} := \Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_1)$ denotes the algebra of functions on the set of morphisms \mathscr{G}_1 in a similar way. Hence, $\Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_1)$ is generated by elements f_g corresponding to morphisms $g \in \mathscr{G}_1$ and $f_{g_1} \cdot f_{g_2} = \delta_{g_1,g_2} f_{g_1}$ holds for arbitrary $g_1, g_2 \in \mathscr{G}_1$. The Hopf algebroid structure is defined as follows:

$$s(f_p) = \sum_{g \in \mathscr{G}_1: \ \sigma(g) = p} f_g, \quad t(f_p) = \sum_{g \in \mathscr{G}_1: \ \tau(g) = p} f_g, \quad \Delta(f_g) = \sum_{g_1, g_2 \in \mathscr{G}_1: \ g_2, g_1 = g} f_{g_1} \otimes_A f_{g_2}$$
$$\varepsilon(f_g) = \sum_{p \in \mathscr{G}_0} \delta_{g, e(p)} f_p, \quad S(f_g) = f_{g^{-1}}, \quad 1 = \sum_{g \in \mathscr{G}_1} f_g$$

Notice that, A being semisimple, every A-module is projective and hence flat.

Let us first characterise the structures in the left hand side of the bijection in Theorem 3.28. In Example 3.6 of [19] it was already shown that any Hopf ideal *I* of $\Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_1)$ must be of the form $\Bbbk(S_1)$ for a subset S_1 of \mathscr{G}_1 for which $(\mathscr{G}_0, \mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1)$ forms a subgroupoid of \mathscr{G} . If *I* is also normal, (NI1) implies that

$$\left\langle \sum_{g \in \mathscr{G}_1: \sigma(g)=p} f_g - \sum_{h \in \mathscr{G}_1: \tau(h)=p} f_h \middle| p \in \mathscr{G}_0 \right\rangle = \left\langle f_g \middle| g \notin \mathscr{G}_1^{(i)} \right\rangle \subseteq I = \Bbbk(S_1)$$

and therefore $\mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1 \subseteq \mathscr{G}_1^{(i)}$. It is also easy to check that

$$\delta_{\mathcal{H}_{(i)}}(\overline{f_g}) = \sum_{h \in \mathscr{G}_1: \tau(h) = \sigma(g)} \overline{f_{h^{-1}gh}} \otimes_A f_h$$

for any $\overline{f_g} \in I_{(i)}$. Hence, (NI2) holds if and only if $\mathscr{G}_1^{(i)} \cap S_1$ is closed under conjugation if and only if $\mathscr{G}_1^{(i)} \setminus S_1$ is closed under conjugation i.e. condition (NG2) holds. Hence, normal Hopf ideals $I = \Bbbk(S_1)$ of $(\Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_0), \Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_1))$ correspond to normal subgroupoids $(\mathscr{G}_0, \mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1)$, as we know from Proposition 3.19.

In this situation, $\mathcal{H}/I \cong \mathbb{k}(\mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1)$ and we denote $\mathcal{N}_1 \coloneqq \mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1$. Now consider an arbitrary term $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i f_{g_i}$ in $\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}}$, where *n* is a positive integer, $g_i \in \mathscr{G}_1$ and $\alpha_{g_i} \in \mathbb{k}$. Since $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i f_{g_i} \in \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{I}}$, we have an equality

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{h \in \mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1: \ \tau(h) = \tau(g_i)} \alpha_i f_{h^{-1}g_i} \otimes_A \overline{f_h} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i f_{g_i} \otimes_A \overline{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i f_{g_i} \otimes_A \left(\sum_{g \in \mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1: \ \sigma(g) = \tau(g_i)} \overline{f_g} \right)$$

Noting that $\mathcal{H} \otimes_A \frac{\mathcal{H}}{I} \cong \bigoplus_{(g,h) \in \mathscr{G}_{1\tau} \times_{\sigma} \mathscr{N}_1} \Bbbk(f_g \otimes_A \overline{f_h})$ as a vector space and that $h \in \mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1 \subseteq \mathscr{G}_1^{(i)}$ have the same source and target, we obtain a family of equivalent equalities

$$\sum_{i: \tau(g_i)=\tau(h)} \alpha_i f_{g_i} = \sum_{j: \tau(g_j)=\tau(h)} \alpha_j f_{h^{-1}g_j}$$

for any $h \in \mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1$. Recall the natural action of $\mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1$ on \mathscr{G}_1 from (36). If we denote the orbits of this action by $\mathscr{O}_1, \ldots, \mathscr{O}_m$, then these equalities holding, means any arbitrary element in $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i f_{g_i}$ in $\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$ can be re-written as $\sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_{i_j} (\sum_{g \in \mathscr{O}_j} f_g)$ for some subset of indices $\{i_j\}_{j=1}^m$ of $\{i\}_{i=1}^n$.

Consequently, any normal Hopf ideal $I = \Bbbk(S_1)$ of $(\Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_0), \Bbbk(\mathscr{G}_1))$ corresponds to the choice of a normal subgroupoid $(\mathscr{G}_0, \mathscr{N}_1 := \mathscr{G}_1 \setminus S_1)$ and $\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{co}\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}} \cong \Bbbk((\mathscr{G}/\mathscr{N})_1)$. In particular, since $\Bbbk((\mathscr{G}/\mathscr{N})_1)$ is semisimple, any module (such as \mathcal{H}) over it is flat and thereby any ring extension over it is faithfully flat, hence pure.

Having identified the objects on the left hand side of the bijection in Theorem 3.28, we observe that the theorem tells us that any Hopf subalgerboid \mathcal{K} of $\mathcal{H} = \Bbbk(\mathcal{G}_1)$ for which \mathcal{H} is pure over \mathcal{K} is of the form $\Bbbk((\mathcal{G}/\mathcal{N})_1)$ for some quotient groupoid \mathcal{G}/\mathcal{N} . We can observe this directly by looking at the set of characters $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ on \mathcal{K} . Since $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, \Bbbk) = \mathcal{G}_1$, we have a natural map $\pi: \mathcal{G}_1 \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ coming from the inclusion $\iota: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$. Since ι is pure and since elements from $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ are in bijection with the maximal ideals in \mathcal{K} , Proposition 1.1 entails that π is surjective. Note that $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ obtains a natural groupoid structure over $\mathcal{G}_0 = \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(A, \Bbbk)$ via the structure maps and thereby π becomes a morphism of groupoids. It is then easy to see that we are in the situation of Lemma 3.5.

Proposition 3.30. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid and let (A, \mathcal{K}) be a sub-Hopf algebroid of (A, \mathcal{H}) . Denote by $\phi \colon \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ the inclusion. Then the canonical morphism

$$\Psi_{R} \colon \frac{\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)}{\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{HK}^{+}}(R)} \to \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{K}}(R), \qquad \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{HK}^{+}}(R) \bullet g \mapsto \Phi_{R}(g), \tag{44}$$

induced by ϕ is injective for every $R \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}$. That is to say, the kernel of the R-component $\Phi_R: \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, R) \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, R)$ of the canonical morphism induced by ϕ is $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+, R)$.

Proof. Recall from [27, Definition 2.6] that the kernel of Φ_R is the set

$$\{f \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, R) \mid f \circ \phi = x \circ \varepsilon_{\mathcal{K}} \text{ for some } x \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(A, R) \}$$

and that it is a normal subgroupoid of $(\mathscr{G}_A(R), \mathscr{G}_H(R))$. Now, it is clear that if $h: \mathcal{H}/\mathcal{HK}^+ \to R$ is an algebra morphism, then $h \circ \pi \in \ker(\Phi_R)$: for every $x \in \mathcal{K}$ we have

$$((h \circ \pi) \circ \phi)(x) = (h \circ \pi \circ \phi \circ s_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \varepsilon_{\mathcal{K}})(x) = ((h \circ \pi \circ s_{\mathcal{H}}) \circ \varepsilon_{\mathcal{K}})(x).$$

Conversely, if $f \in \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)$ is such that $f \circ \phi = x \circ \varepsilon_{\mathcal{K}}$, then $f(\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+) \subseteq f(\mathcal{H})f(\mathcal{K}^+) = 0$ and hence there exists a unique $h \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+, R)$ such that $h \circ \pi = f$.

Corollary 3.31. Let (A, \mathcal{H}) be a commutative Hopf algebroid such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat and let $I \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ be a normal Hopf ideal such that \mathcal{H} is pure over \mathcal{H}^{I} . Denote by $\phi \colon \mathcal{H}^{I} \to \mathcal{H}$ the inclusion. Then the canonical morphism

$$\Psi_{R} \colon \frac{\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(R)}{\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/l}(R)} \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}^{l}, R), \qquad \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/l}(R) \bullet g \mapsto \Phi_{R}(g),$$

of Lemma 3.24 is injective for every $R \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}$. That is to say, the kernel of the morphism $\Phi_R: \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, R) \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}^{I}, R)$ induced by ϕ is exactly $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}/I, R)$.

Proof. It follows from Proposition 3.30 in view of Theorem 3.28, since if $\mathcal{K} := \mathcal{H}^I$ then $I = \mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+$.

Remark 3.32. Recall the following well-known fact. Suppose that (A, \mathcal{K}) is a sub-Hopf algebroid of a commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) such that $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{K}}$ is pure (resp. faithfully flat) and denote by $\phi \colon \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ the inclusion. For every commutative \Bbbk -algebra R and for every $g \in \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{K}}(R)$, the pushout diagram



in the category of commutative algebras provides for us a pure (resp. faithfully flat) extension $S := \mathcal{H} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} R$ of R and a point $\tilde{g} \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(S)$ such that $g_S = \Phi_S(\tilde{g})$, where $g_S := \alpha \circ g$ is the image of g in $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{K}}(S)$. This means that even if the $\Psi: \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}}/\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+} \to \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{K}}$ whose R-component is retrieved in (44), may not be surjective for every R, it is still "locally surjective" in the sense that any element of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{K}}(R)$ arises by patching, in some covering, elements which come from $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{H}}$. This also raises the important question of determining if and when a commutative Hopf algebroid is pure (resp. faithfully flat) over any sub-Hopf algebroid.

Lemma 1.5 can also be used to prove the subsequent Proposition 3.33, which is the natural extension of [37, Corollary 3.12] to the present setting.

Proposition 3.33. Suppose that \Bbbk is an algebraically closed field. Let (A, \mathcal{K}) be a sub-Hopf algebroid of a commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) such that \mathcal{H} is pure over \mathcal{K} . Denote by $\phi : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ the inclusion. Then the \Bbbk -component $\Phi_{\Bbbk} : \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, \Bbbk) \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ of the canonical morphism induced by ϕ is surjective.

Proof. If \mathcal{H} is finitely generated as a k-algebra, then the statement follows from Hilbert's Null-stellensatz and Proposition 1.1, point (7).

In the general case let us proceed as follows. Observe that \mathcal{H} , as an algebra, is the colimit of its subalgebras of the form \mathcal{LK} , where \mathcal{L} is a finitely generated subalgebra.

Now, take $f \in \text{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$. Being an algebra map, f allows us to see \Bbbk as a \mathcal{K} -algebra and we may consider the finitely generated \Bbbk -algebra $\mathcal{LK} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} \Bbbk$.

Since the chain of inclusions $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathcal{LK} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is composed by \mathcal{K} -ring maps and \mathcal{H} is pure over \mathcal{K} , we may apply Corollary 1.4 to claim that $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathcal{LK}$ is pure and hence the inclusion

$$\Bbbk \cong \mathcal{K} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} \Bbbk \subseteq \mathcal{LK} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} \Bbbk$$

entails that $\mathcal{LK} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} \Bbbk$ is non-zero. By the Nullstellensatz again, $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{LK} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} \Bbbk, \Bbbk)$ is non-empty and hence we may take a *g* therein. The composition

$$g' \colon \left(\mathcal{LK} \xrightarrow{x \mapsto x \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} 1_{\Bbbk}} \mathcal{LK} \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} \Bbbk \xrightarrow{g} \Bbbk \right)$$

satisfies $g'(x) = g(x \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} 1) = g(1 \otimes_{\mathcal{K}} f(x)) = f(x)$ for all $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and hence any $f \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ can be extended to a $g' \in \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{L}\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ for every finitely generated subalgebra \mathcal{L} of \mathcal{H} . Therefore, $\Phi_{\Bbbk} : \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, \Bbbk) \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ is surjective. \Box

Corollary 3.34. Suppose that \Bbbk is an algebraically closed field. Let I be a normal Hopf ideal of the commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) such that ${}_{s}\mathcal{H}$ is A-flat and \mathcal{H} is pure over $\mathcal{H}^{co\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}}$. Then the

k-component Ψ_k of the canonical morphism (43) from Lemma 3.24 is an isomorphism. That is to say,

$$\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk)/\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/l}(\Bbbk) \cong \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}^{l}}(\Bbbk).$$

Proof. Surjectivity follows by Proposition 3.33, in view of the fact that $\mathcal{H}^{co\frac{\mathcal{H}}{T}} = \mathcal{H}^{T}$ is a sub-Hopf algebroid of \mathcal{H} by Proposition 3.27. Injectivity follows from Corollary 3.31.

Corollary 3.35. Suppose that \Bbbk is an algebraically closed field. Let (A, \mathcal{K}) be a sub-Hopf algebroid of the commutative Hopf algebroid (A, \mathcal{H}) such that \mathcal{H} is pure over \mathcal{K} . Denote by $\phi: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ the inclusion. Then the kernel of the \Bbbk -component $\Phi_{\Bbbk}: \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}, \Bbbk) \to \operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{K}, \Bbbk)$ of the canonical morphism induced by ϕ is $\operatorname{CAlg}_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}\mathcal{K}^+, \Bbbk)$. That is to say

$$\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(\Bbbk)/\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{HK}^+}(\Bbbk) \cong \mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{K}}(\Bbbk).$$

Proof. Follows directly from Proposition 3.30 and Proposition 3.33.

Acknowledgements Paolo Saracco is a Chargé de Recherches of the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique - FNRS and a member of the "National Group for Algebraic and Geometric Structures and their Applications" (GNSAGA-INdAM). Aryan Ghobadi is a postdoctoral researcher under the EPSRC grant EP/W522508/1 and would also like to thank the LMS for the travel grant ECR-1920-42 which allowed the author to be included in this project, as well as the University of Granada for their hospitality during his visit. L. EL Kaoutit would like to thank Leovigilio Alonso Tarrío and Ana Jeremías López for helpful discussions. He also would like to thank all the members of the Département de Mathématique, Université Libre de Bruxelles for the excellent ambience during his visit. Joost Vercruysse would like to thank the FWB (Fédération Wallonie-Bruxelles) for support through the ARC project "From algebra to combinatorics, and back".

References

- [1] E. Abe, *Hopf algebras*. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, **74**. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge-New York, 1980.
- [2] J. J. Barbarán Sánchez, L. El Kaoutit, *Linear representations and Frobenius morphisms of groupoids*. SIGMA 15 (2019), 019, 33 pages.
- [3] G. Böhm, *Hopf algebroids*. Handbook of algebra. Vol. 6, 173–235, Handb. Algebr., 6, Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2009.
- [4] N. Bourbaki, *Éléments de mathématique. Algèbre commutative. Chapitre 1 à 4.* Reprint of the 1985 original. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006.
- [5] R. Brown, Groupoids and van Kampen's theorem. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 17 (1967), 385-401.
- [6] T. Brzeziński, G. Militaru, Bialgebroids, ×_A-bialgebras and duality. J. Algebra 251 (2002), no. 1, 279–294.
- [7] T. Brzeziński, R. Wisbauer, *Corings and Comodules*. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, 309. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003.
- [8] A. Connes, H. Moscovici, Rankin-Cohen brackets and the Hopf algebra of transverse geometry. Mosc. Math. J. 4 (2004), no. 1, 111–130, 311.
- [9] P. Deligne, *Catégories tannakiennes*. In *The Grothendieck Festschrift* (P. Cartier et al., eds.), Progr. Math., 87, vol. II, Birkhäuser, Boston, MA. 1990, pp. 111–195.

46 LAIACHI EL KAOUTIT, ARYAN GHOBADI, PAOLO SARACCO, AND JOOST VERCRUYSSE

- [10] M. Demazure and P. Gabriel, Groupes algébriques. Tome I: Géométrie algébrique, généralités, groupes commutatifs, Masson & Cie, Éditeur, Paris; North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1970, Avec un appendice Corps de classes local par Michiel Hazewinkel.
- [11] Y. Doi, Unifying Hopf modules. J. Algebra 153 (1992), no. 2, 373–385.
- [12] L. El Kaoutit, *Representative functions on discrete groupoids and duality with Hopf algebroids*. Preprint (2013), arXiv:1311.3109.
- [13] L. El Kaoutit, On geometrically transitive Hopf algebroids. J. Pure Appl. Algebra 222 (2018), no. 11, 3483–3520.
- [14] L. El Kaoutit, N. Kowalzig, Morita theory for Hopf algebroids, principal bibundles, and weak equivalences. Documenta Math. 22 (2017), 551–609.
- [15] L. El Kaoutit, P. Saracco, *Topological tensor product of bimodules, complete Hopf algebroids and convolution algebras.* Commun. Contemp. Math. 21 (2019), no. 6, 1–53.
- [16] L. El Kaoutit, P. Saracco, *The Hopf algebroid structure of differentially recursive sequences*. Quaestiones Mathematicae 45 (2022), no. 4, 547–593.
- [17] L. El Kaoutit, J. Gómez-Torrecillas, On the finite dual of a co-commutative Hopf algebroid. Application to linear differential matrix equations and Picard-Vessiot theory. Bull. Belg. Math. Soc.-Simon Steven 28 (2021), 53–121.
- [18] Aryan Ghobadi, *Hopf algebroids, bimodule connections and noncommutative geometry*. arXiv preprint arXiv:2001.08673, 2020.
- [19] Aryan Ghobadi, Isotopy quotients of Hopf algebroids and the fundamental groupoid of digraphs. Journal of Algebra 610 (2022), 591–631.
- [20] J. Gómez-Torrecillas, Comonads and Galois corings. Appl. Categ. Structures 14 (2006), no. 5-6, 579–598.
- [21] G. Goehle, Groupoid crossed products. Thesis (Ph.D.)-Dartmouth College. 2009.
- [22] M. Gran, F. Sterck, J. Vercruysse, A semi-abelian extension of a theorem by Takeuchi. J. Pure Appl. Algebra 223 (2019), no. 10, 4171–4190.
- [23] G. Janelidze, W. Tholen, Facets of descent. III. Monadic descent for rings and algebras. Appl. Categ. Structures 12 (2004), no. 5-6, 461–477.
- [24] L. Kadison, Pseudo-Galois extensions and Hopf algebroids. Modules and comodules, 247–264, Trends Math., Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2008.
- [25] J. H. Lu, Hopf algebroids and quantum groupoids. Internat. J. Math. 7 (1996), no. 1, 47-70.
- [26] S. MacLane, *Categories for the working mathematician*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 5. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1971.
- [27] K. C. H. Mackenzie, *Lie groupoids and Lie algebroids in differential geometry*. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, **124**. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1987.
- [28] K. C. H. Mackenzie, *General theory of Lie groupoids and Lie algebroids*. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, 213. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005.
- [29] A. Paques, T. Tamusiunas, *The Galois correspondence theorem for groupoid actions*. J. Algebra **509** (2018), 105–123.
- [30] N. Popescu, Abelian categories with applications to rings and modules. London Mathematical Society Monographs, No. 3. Academic Press, London-New York, 1973.
- [31] D. C. Ravenel, Complex Cobordism and Stable Homotopy Groups of Spheres. Pure and Applied Mathematics Series, Academic Press, San Diego, 1986.
- [32] P. Saracco, *On anchored Lie algebras and the Connes-Moscovici bialgebroid construction*. To appear in J. Noncommutative Geom. (2020)
- [33] P. Schauenburg, *Bialgebras over non-commutative rings and a structure theorem for Hopf bimodules*. Appl. Categ. Structures **6** (1998), no. 2, 193-222.
- [34] P. Schauenburg, Duals and Doubles of Qauntum Groupoids (×_R-Hopf Algebras). New trends in Hopf algebra theory (La Falda, 1999), 273–299, Contemp. Math., 267, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000.
- [35] M. E. Sweedler, Groups of simple algebras. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. No. 44 (1974), 79–189.

- [36] M. Takeuchi, √Morita theory-formal ring laws and monoidal equivalences of categories of bimodules.
 J. Math. Soc. Japan 39 (1987), no. 2, 301–336.
- [37] M. Takeuchi, A correspondence Between Hopf ideals and sub-Hopf algebras. Manuscripta Math. 7 (1972) 143–163.
- [38] M. Takeuchi, *Groups of algebras over* $A \otimes \overline{A}$. J. Math. Soc. Japan **29** (1977), no. 3, 459–492.
- [39] W. C. Waterhouse, *Introduction to affine group schemes*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, **66**. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1979.
- [40] N. Yoneda, On Ext and exact sequences. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. I 8 (1960), 507–576.

Universidad de Granada, Departamento de Álgebra and IMAG. Facultad de Ciencias. Fuente Nueva s/n. E810071 Granada, Spain *Email address*: kaoutit@ugr.es

URL: http://www.ugr.es/~kaoutit/

School of Mathematics, Queen Mary University of London, Mile End Road, E1 4NS, London, UK *Email address*: a.ghobadi@qmul.ac.uk *URL*: https://sites.google.com/view/aghobadimath

Département de Mathématique, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Boulevard du Triomphe, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium. *Email address*: paolo.saracco@ulb.be *URL*: https://sites.google.com/view/paolo-saracco *URL*: https://paolo.saracco.web.ulb.be

Département de Mathématique, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Boulevard du Triomphe, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium. *Email address*: joost.vercruysse@ulb.be *URL*: http://joost.vercruysse.web.ulb.be